Molecular mechanism by which *Djplac8-A* controls proliferation/differentiation of planarian pluripotent stem cells during regeneration

Hayoung Lee

Contents

1.	Abstract
2.	Abbreviation5
3.	Introduction
	3.1 General characteristics of stem cells
	3.2 Relationship between proliferation and differentiation of stem cells
	3.3 Planarians
	3.4 Neoblast, planarian adult pluripotent stem cells14
	3.5 Proliferation and differentiation of neoblasts17
	3.6 Placenta specific gene 8, a neoblast specific genes regulating proliferation
	3.7 Findings in this study
4.	Materials and methods:25
	4.1 Biological samples
	4.2 X-ray irradiation
	4.3 Feeding RNA interference
	4.4 Injection RNA interference
	4.5 Antibody preparation
	4.6 Western blotting
	4.7 FACS-based single cell RT-PCR
	4.8 Whole-mount immunohistochemistry
	4.9 Whole-mount <i>in situ</i> hybridization
	4. 10 Whole-mount fluorescent <i>in situ</i> hybridization
	4. 11 Quantitative RT- PCR
	4. 12 Chemical inhibitor treatment
5.	Results
	5.1 Knockdown of <i>Djplac8-A</i> increases fission frequency
	5.2 <i>Djplac8-A</i> is expressed in almost <i>DjpiwiA</i> -expressing neoblasts
	5.3 DjPlac8-A is a membrane protein
	5 4 Dinlage 4 is involved in induced hyper preliferation after feeding

5.5 <i>Djplac8-A</i> is involved in induced hyper-proliferation after amputation
5.6 <i>Djplac8-A</i> expression disappeared from neoblasts located in the post-blastema region after amputation
5.7 Activation of JNK signaling represses <i>Djplac8-A</i> expression in neoblasts after amputation
5.8 Induced hyper-proliferation is required for progression of neoblasts differentiation 61
6.Discussion
6.1 Induced hyper-proliferation as "conserved stem cell behavior" in planarians
6.2 Predictable molecular pathway of induced hyper-proliferation after feeding
6.3 Predicted molecular function of DjPlac8-A protein in induced hyper-proliferation72
6.4 JNK and ERK signaling in the induced hyper-proliferation
6.5 <i>Djplac8-A</i> is a switch for transition of the cellular state of neoblasts during induced hyper- proliferation for regeneration77
7. Acknowledge
8. References

1. Abstract

Planarians have an adult pluripotent stem cell population called neoblasts, which are the only cell source for planarian regenerative ability. It is known that neoblasts undergo transient accelerated proliferation after feeding and amputation, so-called "induced hyperproliferation". Although this phenomenon has been known for decades, the molecular mechanism and biological meaning behind this was unclear. Thus, I focused on induced hyperproliferation and revealed that reduction of the expression level of a single gene, namely *Djplac8-A*, could induce hyper-proliferation after feeding or amputation.

In this thesis, I show that reduction of *Djplac8-A* expression, one of the neoblastspecific genes, led to induced hyper-proliferation after feeding, similarly to *DjP2X-A*, which was previously reported to be involved in induced hyper-proliferation after feeding. Interestingly, reduction of *Djplac8-A* expression also led to induced hyper-proliferation after amputation, and this was caused by activated JNK signaling at the post-blastema region after amputation. In addition, I found that ERK signaling was also required to induce hyperproliferation via activation of JNK signaling. Pharmacological inhibition of JNK signaling caused failure to induce hyper-proliferation and resulted in regenerative defects. Such defects were rescued by simultaneous knockdown of *Djplac8-A* expression, suggesting that JNKdependent suppression of *Djplac8-A* expression is indispensable for proliferation and differentiation of neoblasts during regeneration. I propose that *Djplac8-A* acts as a molecular switch of neoblasts for entry into the active state from the steady state through induced hyperproliferation after amputation.

2. Abbreviations

1 8
Dugesia japonica
Extracellular signal-Regulated Kinase
embryonic stem cells
fluorescence-activated cell sorting
Fibroblast Growth Factor
germline stem cells
hematopoietic stem cells
comprehensive gene expression analysis
c-JUN N-terminal kinase
Leukaemia Inhibitory Factor
Myosin Heavy Chain
pluripotent stem cells
RNA interference
RNA-Protein
Schmidtea mediterranea
vasa-like gene
clonogenic neoblasts
double-stranded RNA
induced Pluripotent Stem Cells
phosphohistone H3
phosphorylated JNK
placenta specific gene 8

3. Introduction

3.1 General characteristics of stem cells

Stem cells are defined by two major characteristics: 1) proliferative ability (produce two identical daughter cells) and 2) differentiative ability (transition to different cell type than itself). Thus, stem cells can perform cell proliferation and generate differentiated cells. Generally, stem cells are classified into several types depending on their differentiative ability: 1) totipotent, 2) pluripotent, 3) multipotent, 4) oligopotent, and 5) unipotent (Fig 1, Zakrzewski et al., 2019). Totipotent stem cells are the highest potential type of stem cells since a single totipotent stem cell can form a complete organism. Totipotency is a typical characteristic of plant cells because they have high dedifferentiation ability, which is going back to the undifferentiated state from a differentiated state, and a single dedifferentiated cell can differentiate into a single complete organism (Grafi et al., 2011). On the other hand, in animals, totipotentcy is observed in only in the very early stage of development, which is the fertilized egg (Bindu A and B, 2011). Pluripotent stem cells (PSCs), for example embryonic stem cells (ESCs) or induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSCs), can differentiate into all types of cells constructing individuals except for extraembryonic cells (Smith et al., 2009; Takahashi and Yamanaka, 2006). For example, ESCs can differentiate into not only all types of somatic cells, but also germ cells (Keller, 1995; Smith, 2001). Multipotent stem cells having a narrower spectrum of differentiative potentiality than that of pluripotent stem cells can differentiate into

multiple types of cells in a restricted lineage. For example, hematopoietic stem cells, which are a kind of somatic tissue stem cell, can differentiate into all types of blood cells and lymph cells (Seita and Weissman, 2010; Zakrzewski et al., 2019). Oligopotent stem cells have a narrower spectrum of differentiation than that of multipotent stem cells, thus they can differentiate into a few types of cells. For example, myeloid stem cells can differentiate into blood cells including basophils and red blood cells and so on, or lymphoid stem cells differentiate into lymphocytes, including T cells and B cells (Seita and Weissman, 2010; Zakrzewski et al, 2019). Unipotent stem cells have limited potential to differentiate into only one type of differentiated cell, for example, germline stem cells (GSCs) are a type of unipotent stem cell which differentiate into only sperm or egg (Lehmann, 2012).

Since plant cells have totipotency, as mentioned above, they can dedifferentiate, reenter the cell cycle, and differentiate into the other cell types required for regenerating tissues, organs, and even entire plants under certain conditions (Grafi et al., 2011). On the other hand, the differentiative potency of stem cells in animals becomes more limited along the developmental process and then most adult animals have a small population of stem cells with limited differentiative ability such as multipotency or unipotency (Fig. 1) (Bonnet, 2002).



Fig 1. Hierarchy of stem cells. Proliferative ability and differentiative ability of major characteristics of stem cells. Stem cells are classified into several types depending on their differentiative ability.

3.2 Relationship between proliferation and differentiation of stem cells

Stem cells have many important roles in life phenomena, such as organogenesis during

the embryonic development process, or tissue homeostasis and regeneration in adult bodies.

To achieve these roles, stem cells should supply differentiated cells while an appropriate size

of a population of stem cells should be kept by avoiding over-proliferation and exhaustion. For

this, for example, many tissue stem cells employ asymmetric division to produce lineage restricted progenitors (or differentiated cells) and stem cells (Inaba and Yamashita, 2012; Piccin and Morshead, 2011). Asymmetric division is regulated by intrinsic factors such as intracellular polarity or by extrinsic factors such as growth factors and/or niche (microenvironment) (Lin, 2008). For asymmetric division regulated by intrinsic factors, neuroblasts in Drosophila have been well studied (Inaba and Yamashita, 2012; Rolls et al., 2003). The neuroblasts divide asymmetrically to generate a daughter neuroblast and a ganglion mother cell which differentiate into neurons or glia through several subsequent cell divisions (Bowman et al., 2008). Par-3/Par-6/ atypical protein kinase K complex and PINS/Ga/MUD(NuMA) complex are localized at the apical cortex of the mother neuroblast. Par-3/Par-6/ atypical protein kinase K complex polarizes the cell and PINS/Ga/MUD(NuMA) complex orients the spindle. Then, these complexes dictate localization of fate-determinants such as Miranda, Numb at the basal side for ganglion mother cell differentiation. The spindle orientation is aligned with the apical-basal polarity axis, and thus cells at the basal side inherit the fate determinants to become a ganglion mother cell after asymmetric cell division (Knoblich, 2008) One of the typical extrinsic factors affecting asymmetric division is the niche, where is a specific area that maintain the stem cells in the undifferentiated state. For example, male GSCs of Drosophila divide asymmetrically in a niche-dependent way. The GSCs niche consists of hub cells at the tip of the gonad. These niche cells create a specialized area for selfrenewal by secreting ligand Upd to activate the JAK/STAT pathway and ligand Dpp to activate bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs). Thus, part of mother GSCs which are attached to the niche (Hub cells) become daughter GSCs and another part of mother GSCs aaway from the niche become goniablasts upon division (Inaba and Yamashita, 2012). Such asymmetric division may be disadvantageous when a huge loss of the stem cell population occurs, because there is difficulty to replenish the stem cell pool by asymmetric division. For dealing with this disadvantage, stem cells can perform another type of proliferation, which is symmetric division to maintain the stem cell pool as a population (Shahriyari and Komarova, 2013).

Symmetric cell division generates two identical daughter cells (it can be two stem cells, or also two differentiated cells). For example, mouse neural stem cells symmetrically divide depending on activated Wnt signaling after injury for increasing their number (Piccin and Morshead, 2011). In contrast to this, mouse neural stem cells divide asymmetrically when Wnt signaling is absent under the normal condition (Piccin and Morshead, 2011). Also, in hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) of mouse, asymmetric and symmetric divisions are determined depending on the CD34 mRNA expression level. To produce differentiated hematopoietic cells after injury, the expression level of CD34 mRNA is up-regulated for increasing activated-state HSCs, and then the expression level of CD34 mRNA is down regulated to quit producing differentiated cells and proliferate to maintain the HSCs population (Wilson et al., 2008).

In vitro, the decision between proliferation and differentiation of stem cells is controlled in specific conditions by certain growth factors. ES cells can proliferate indefinitely by generating only themselves when leukaemia inhibitory factor (LIF) and BMPs are added to culture medium to prevent differentiation (Chambers and Smith, 2004; Ying et al., 2003). On the other hand, fibroblast growth factor (FGF) signaling is required to exit from self-renewal state and start to differentiate (Kunath et al., 2007)..

In this way, the decisions between proliferation and differentiation are very closely controlled connected and tightly by numerous regulatory factors such as asymmetric/symmetric division or growth factors, as noted above. However, the molecular switch(es) of stem cells for determining the decision of proliferation for self-renewal versus differentiation are largely unknown. It is important to discover the molecular mechanisms keeping the balance between proliferation and differentiation in order to understand the stem cell systems in animals and plants, and to improve stem cell engineering.

3.3 Planarians

"Planarian" is usually used for describing free-living flatworms. In taxonomy, planarians are classified as Platyhelminthes (flatworms), order Tricladida. They live in both sea water and freshwater. More than 380 planarian species are reported worldwide (Tyler S, Schilling S, Hooge M, Bush L. Turbellarian taxonomic database. 2013.). In Japan and Asia, the best-studied species of freshwater planarian is Dugesia japonica (D. japonica) (Fig. 2A). It is easy to find them under rocks or fallen leaves in freshwater areas such as ponds or rivers. Their body length is up to 25 mm, and they have a triangular head (Nishimura et al., 2015). Two eyes are located on the dorsal side of the head. The central nervous system, which is composed of a U-shaped brain in the head region and a pair of ventral nerve cords, is located on the ventral side inside the body (Fig. 2B; Agata et al., 1998). The intestine is composed of 3 main branches which are located along the entire body (Fig. 2C; Orii et al., 2002). Planarians can reproduce sexually and asexually depending on the breeding conditions. Dugesia japonica undergo sexual reproduction through sexualization from the asexual state under certain conditions, such as low temperature. However, most of them undergo asexual reproduction via fission. Fission consists of division at the pre- or post- pharyngeal region into two fragments when planarians reach a certain size by growth. The divided fragments become two planarians through regeneration (Agata et al., 2006; Sakurai et al., 2012).

Many species of planarian, including *D. japonica*, have extraordinary regenerative ability. When a planarian is cut into 6 fragments with a razor, wound healing begins to occur immediately after amputation. A blastema, which is composed of differentiating and differentiated cells derived from the neoblasts (planarian adult somatic pluripotent stem cells), is formed at the wound region at one day after amputation. At 3 days after amputation, eyes are regenerated, and all fragments regenerate into morphologically functionally complete individuals within 1 week (Fig. 2D; Agata et al., 2003; Agata and Watanabe, 1999; Umesono and Agata, 2009).



Fig 2. *D. japonica* and their regeneration (A). Freshwater planarian, *Dugesia japonica*. (B) Schematic drawing of planarian nervous system. (C) Schematic drawing of planarian intestinal duct. (D) Schematic drawings of planarian regeneration.

The regenerative ability of planarians has attracted intense interest of scientists from 18th century. T. H. Morgan favored planarians for studying regeneration (Morgan, 1898). T. H. Morgan reported that planarians could regenerate from pieces consisting of about 1/279th of

one planarian. While most early studies of planarian regeneration were observational studies about the regeneration process, the recent development of highly sophisticated experimental techniques has led to planarians becoming model animals for investigating regeneration at the molecular level.

3.4 Neoblasts: planarian adult pluripotent stem cells

Recently, planarian regeneration has been increasingly studied at the cellular and molecular levels by using highly developed biological techniques. Based on the accumulated knowledge about planarian regeneration, neoblasts, which are planarian adult somatic pluripotent stem cells, are thought to be the central cells in planarian regeneration. The neoblasts were classically classified by several morphological features through electron microscopy, namely, undifferentiated morphology with minimal cytoplasm, many free ribosomes, no endoplasmic reticulum, and chromatoid bodies which are neoblast-specific RNA-protein (RNP) granules (Morita et al., 1969; Pedersen, 1959). Neoblasts are specifically eliminated by X- or gamma-ray irradiation, followed by loss of regenerative ability, suggesting that planarians' regenerative ability is dependent on neoblasts (Wolff and Dubois, 1948).

During the past two decades, many neoblast-specific genes have been identified. First, there was a report that a gene expressed in neoblasts was a germ-cell-related gene, namely *vasa-like gene A (DjvlgA)*, in *D. japonica* (Shibata et al., 1999). After this finding, numerous

reports showed that many homolog genes of germ cell-specific or germ cell-related genes in other non-regenerative animals are expressed and function in neoblasts in D. japonica and a related species, Schmidtea mediterranea (S. mediterranea) (Guo et al., 2006; Hayashi et al., 2010; Reddien et al., 2005; Rossi et al., 2006; Salvetti et al., 2005; Shibata et al., 2012, 2010; Solana et al., 2009; Yoshida-Kashikawa et al., 2007). Among them, planarian piwi homolog family genes, the Dipiwi and smedwi families in D. japonica and S. mediterranea, respectively, are expressed specifically or predominantly in neoblasts. Especially, DjpiwiA (smedwi-1 in S. mediterranea) has been used as a specific marker gene for neoblasts in many studies (Hayashi et al., 2010; Palakodeti et al., 2008; Reddien et al., 2005; Shibata et al., 2016; Yoshida-Kashikawa et al., 2007). In situ hybridization of DjpiwiA showed that neoblasts are localized in the mesenchymal space throughout the entire body except in the region anterior to the eyes and in the pharynx (Shibata et al., 2010). These DjpiwiA (or smedwi-1)-positive neoblasts were known to continuously proliferate (Fig. 3; Newmark and Sánchez Alvarado, 2000). Previously, neoblasts in individuals were considered to be a homogeneous population that constituted ~25% of total planarian cells (Yoshida-Kashikawa et al., 2007; Reddien et al., 2005).



Fig. 3. Self-renewal and differentiation of neoblast. Neoblasts are the only cell population having ability to proliferate and differentiate into all types of cells in planarians. *DjpiwiA* is one of the reliable marker genes for neoblasts.

Previously, it was shown that transplantation of a cell population including neoblasts into irradiated planarians could rescue their regenerative ability, suggesting the pluripotency of neoblasts (Fig 3; Baguna et al., 1989). Establishment of a cell sorting technique using fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS) led to further progress in the identification and purification of neoblasts. Based on comparison of the cell sorting profiles between intact and X-ray-irradiated animals, neoblasts were sorted into two fractions: X1 (S - M phase neoblasts) and X2 (G1 neoblasts and X-ray-insensitive cells) fractions (Hayashi et al., 2006). A single neoblast purified by FACS could repopulate and rescue the regenerative ability of an irradiated individual after transplantation in S. mediterranea, proving the pluripotency of neoblasts (Wagner et al., 2011). However, only a limited subpopulation of the neoblasts could repopulate and restore the regenerative ability when transplanted into irradiated planarians, suggesting possible heterogeneity of the differentiative ability of neoblasts, and the possibility that only a few neoblast cells might have true pluripotency. These predicted pluripotent neoblasts were

named clonogenic neoblasts (cNeoblasts) (Wagner et al., 2011). Gene expression analysis by using FACS-based single cell RT-PCR also showed heterogeneity of DipiwiA-expressing neoblasts (Hayashi et al., 2010). Examination of the expression of differentiated cell marker genes, such as myosin heavy chain A (DjMHC-A), which is a muscle cell-specific marker, showed that few DipiwiA-expressing neoblasts were also expressing DiMHC-A in the X1 fraction (Hayashi et al., 2010). More recently, comprehensive gene expression analysis by single cell RNA sequencing of a considerable number of neoblasts revealed that neoblasts could be divided into 12 subpopulations according to the expression levels of *smedwi-1* and transcription factors. Among them, only one group expressing tetraspanin could rescue sublethal irradiated planarians, suggesting that tetraspanin+ neoblasts might be cNeoblasts (Zeng et al., 2018). Although a lot of knowledge about neoblasts has been accumulated, further study is still required to understand the regulatory mechanisms for the fundamental roles of neoblasts such as the regulation balancing proliferation versus differentiation.

3.5 Proliferation and differentiation of neoblasts

As mentioned above, the precise regulation of proliferation and differentiation of stem cells is a very important issue. In the case of planarians, even though neoblasts continuously proliferate, *piwi*-positive neoblasts are maintained at a certain population size (~25% of total cells) in adulthood (Hayashi et al., 2010; Newmark and Sánchez Alvarado, 2000). Based on

this, it is expected that planarians have elaborate mechanisms to regulate proliferation and differentiation. A recent report showed one example of a relationship between proliferation and differentiation of neoblasts by a cell cycle regulatory factor for arresting the cell cycle, namely *cdh1* (Sato et al., 2021). *cdh1(RNAi)* animals showed higher proliferative ability than control animals and loss of differentiative ability, suggesting that cell cycle arrest by *cdh1* is required for differentiation (Sato et al., 2021).

The proliferative rate of neoblasts can respond to external stimuli. 2 major stimuli, feeding (nutrient intake) and amputation, can accelerate proliferation of neoblasts. Transient acceleration of proliferation after feeding or amputation, named 'mitotic burst', was reported several decades ago in several planarian species (Baguñà, 1976; Saló and Baguñà, 1984). As described below, more detailed analyses of this transient acceleration of proliferation of neoblasts have been reported in S. mediterranea and D. japonica. This transient accelerated proliferation has been called several names, including mitotic burst, burst of proliferation, hyper-proliferation, etc. Thus, here I consolidate and rename this phenomenon as 'induced hyper-proliferation'. In S. mediterranea, it has been reported that there are 2 types of induced hyper-proliferation after amputation (Wenemoser et al., 2012). The first induced hyperproliferation peaks by 6 hours after amputation, and is considered to be an early response to lesions caused by piercing or lesioning with/without amputation. The second induced hyperproliferation peaks by 2 days after amputation, and is considered to be a regenerationdependent response caused by loss of body part(s) by amputation (Wenemoser and Reddien, 2010).

So far, although there is no report about induced hyper-proliferation after amputation in D. japonica, induced hyper-proliferation after feeding has been reported (Sakurai et al., 2012). Induced hyper-proliferation reached a peak by 12 hours after feeding (Sakurai et al., 2012). A neoblast-specific gene, DjP2X-A, which encodes an ATP-dependent ion channel, might be involved in this induced hyper-proliferation (Sakurai et al., 2012). DjP2X-A(RNAi) animals showed a higher fission frequency than control animals resulting from a faster growth rate. The expression level of *DjP2X-A* slightly decreases by 24 hours after feeding. Inhibition of the function of DjP2X-A revealed that DjP2X-A(RNAi) animals showed more enhanced induction of hyper-proliferation after feeding, suggesting that this might be the cause of the higher fission frequency observed in DiP2X-A(RNAi) animals. These results revealed a negative correlation between DjP2X-A and induced hyper-proliferation after feeding. In addition, DjP2X-A(RNAi) animals under a starved condition showed decreased mitotic activity, suggesting that DjP2X-A regulates the proliferation dependent on nutrient conditions (Sakurai et al., 2012). These induced hyper-proliferations observed in several planarian species are expected to be involved in supplying the differentiated cells or maintenance of the neoblast population during regeneration of body growth by feeding, but the biological meaning and molecular mechanism of these phenomena are still unclear.



Fig 4. Expression of *DjP2X-A* **of neoblasts during induced hyper-proliferation after feeding.** The expression level of *DjP2X-A*, which is a neoblast-specific gene, was down-regulated after feeding.

There are 2 intracellular signaling pathways which are expected to be concerned with induced hyper-proliferation and differentiation of neoblasts after amputation, namely, the c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) signaling pathway and the extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) signaling pathway (Tasaki et al., 2011b, 2011a). Pharmacological inhibition of JNK signaling revealed that JNK signaling is required for normal proliferation (Tasaki et al., 2011b). After amputation, JNK signaling is strongly activated in the post-blastema region (proximal to the blastema region), where acceleration of neoblast proliferation takes place during the early stage of regeneration (Saló and Baguñà, 1984; Tasaki et al., 2011b). The other signaling pathway is ERK signaling. ERK signaling is activated in the blastema region. Pharmacological inhibition of ERK signaling caused a differentiation defect of neoblasts, suggesting that ERK signaling is required for commitment or differentiation from the proliferative state of neoblasts (Tasaki et al., 2011a). However, there is possibility that ERK signaling might also regulate neoblast proliferation, because ERK signaling is involved in cell proliferation in many stem cell systems in other animals (Hasegawa et al., 2013). Are these signaling pathways involved in induced hyper-proliferation or not? Are there any other molecular mechanisms that regulate induced hyper-proliferation after amputation and/or after feeding? What is the biological significance of induced hyper-proliferation? The answers to these questions will be key for understanding the molecular mechanisms of the state change between proliferation and differentiation of neoblasts, which is also a key issue in stem cell biology.



Fig 5. Unknown molecular mechanism of induced hyper-proliferation after amputation. It is known that JNK signaling is required for proliferation of neoblasts after amputation and ERK signaling is required for differentiation from neoblasts. However, the specific molecular mechanisms involving these signaling pathways for induced hyper-proliferation after amputation still remain unknown.

3.6 Placenta specific gene 8, a neoblast-specific gene regulating proliferation

To find the molecular mechanism related to induced hyper-proliferation, I used neoblast-specific genes identified by comprehensive gene expression analysis (HiCEP) (Shibata et al., 2012). Among them, I focused on one of the HiCEP genes, which has homology to placenta specific gene 8 (plac8). Plac8 is small protein of about 16 kDa, and has a cysteinerich Plac8 super family domain (Fig. 4A). A variety of functions of plac8 in regulation of cellular activity have been reported in diverse phyla, from plants to animals (Fig. 4B; Cabreira-Cagliari et al., 2018). Depending on the investigated functions, *plac8* in various organisms is called several names, including onzin (as an oncogene), cell number regulator, and so on. (Bedell et al., 2012; Guo et al., 2010; Libault et al., 2010; Zeng et al., 2019). New consolidated nomenclature for Plac8 was proposed recently and categorized into 3 types based on domain structure (Fig 4B; Cabreira-Cagliari et al., 2018). Type I is most widely distributed in animals and plants and most of reported Plac8s belong to this type. TypeII and III exist only in plants and their functions are not well studied yet. (Cabreira-Cagliari et al., 2018). Among the various functions, a well-known function of Plac8 family proteins is regulation of proliferation in plants such as tomato or soybean (Cong et al., 2002; Guo et al., 2010; Libault et al., 2010). Considering this function, I focused on *Djplac8-A* and tested the possibility that it regulates proliferation and/or differentiation of neoblasts after feeding and/or amputation.



Fig 6. Characteristics of Plac8 (A) Domain of placenta specific gene 8. (B) Categorization of plac8 family members and their functions.

3.7 Findings in this study

In this thesis, I revealed that JNK-dependent suppression of *Djplac8-A* expression is indispensable for induced hyper-proliferation, and that induced hyper-proliferation is required for appropriate regeneration.

First, I found that knockdown of *Djplac8-A* increased the fission frequency, suggesting that *Djplac8-A* is involved in induced hyper-proliferation after feeding, similarly to *DjP2X-A*. Next, I confirmed that induced hyper-proliferation occurred after amputation in *D. japonica*. The expression level of *Djplac8-A* was negatively correlated with induced hyper-proliferation after both feeding and amputation, suggesting that reduction of the expression of *Djplac8-A* might cause the induced hyper-proliferation. Indeed, the induced hyper-

proliferation after both feeding and amputation was accelerated by RNAi of Djplac8-A. In intact animals, Diplac8-A was specifically expressed in almost all neoblasts. I found that expression of Diplac8-A in neoblasts was decreased at the post blastema region after amputation, which is identical to the area of activated JNK signaling. Pharmacological inhibition of JNK signaling caused maintenance of the expression of *Diplac8-A* at the post blastema region and failure of induce hyper-proliferation, and resulted in regenerative defects. These regenerative defects were rescued by simultaneous knockdown of Djplac8-A. In addition, the induced hyper-proliferation was affected by inhibition of ERK signaling, suggesting the possibility that both JNK signaling and ERK signaling are involved in induced hyperproliferation during regeneration. Taken together, these findings showed that reduction of the expression of a single gene, Djplac8-A, by JNK signaling is sufficient to cause induced hyperproliferation that is required for producing differentiated cells during regeneration. Finally, I propose that *Djplac8-A* is a molecular switch of neoblasts for entry from the steady state which maintains the neoblast population into the regenerative state to supply differentiated cells during regeneration.

4. Materials and methods:

4.1 Biological samples

A clonal strain of the planarian *Dugesia japonica* (sexualizing special planarian (SSP) (2n = 16) (Shibata et al., 2012) was maintained at 24 °C in 0.005% artificial sea water (Instant Ocean, Blacksburg, VA). Chicken liver was fed every 1 or 2 weeks to the planarians to maintain them. Planarians had been starved for at least 1 week before all experiments. Regenerating planarians used for experiments were obtained by amputation anterior or posterior to the pharynx. 3 or 5 groups of biological replicates were tested for statistical analyses.

4.2 X-ray irradiation

Animals placed on wet filter paper on ice were irradiated with 120 roentgens of Xrays using an X-ray generator (SOFTEX B-5; SOFTEX, Tokyo, Japan). 5 days after irradiation, planarians were used for experiments.

4.3 Feeding RNA interference

Double-stranded RNA was synthesized as previously described (Rouhana et al., 2013). The primers for PCR amplification were as follows:

SP6 + T7 Forward primer (for *Djplac8*)

5' GATCACTAATACGACTCACTATAGGGCAAGCTATTTAGGTGACACTATAG3'

Zap Linker + T7 Forward primer (for *DjP2X-A*)

5' GATCACTAATACGACTCACTATAGGGCTGCAGAATTCGGCACGAGG 3' M13 Reverse primer

5' GTTTTCCCAGTCACGACGTTGTAA 3'

RNA interference (RNAi) with dsRNA was performed to knock down the target genes as follows: 25 μ L of chicken liver solution (liver homogenate: culture water = 1: 1), 7 μ L of 2% agarose and 7 μ L of 2.0 μ g/ μ L dsRNA were mixed and fed to 15 planarians. The mixture was frozen at -30 °C for at least 30 minutes before use. 3 successive feedings were similarly conducted at 3-day intervals after the first feeding for short-term feeding RNAi. Additional feeding was conducted after 3 successive feedings for long-term feeding RNAi. Control animals were fed with dsRNA of EGFP.

4.4 Injection RNA interference

dsRNA synthesized as described above (2 μ g/ μ l) was injected into the intestine. 3 successive injections were performed daily after the first injection. Control animals were injected with dsRNA of EGFP.

4.5 Antibody preparation

For production of anti-DjPlac8-A antibody, peptides corresponding to 3 regions of DjPlac8-A were synthesized and injected into rabbits. Affinity-purified polyclonal antibody was obtained from the rabbit sera. All procedures were conducted by MBL (Nagoya, Japan). The amino acid sequences of the peptides were MNENKRYSNKLDYSQEC, AAEPILQQPPEYPGFPKC, and IQQPKSNTGSAREWSSGC.

4.6 Western blotting

10 planarians were dissolved in sample buffer (100 mM Tris–HCl (pH 6.8), 4% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS), 12% β -mercaptethanol, 20% glycerol, 0.024% Bromophenol blue) and boiled for 5 min. After SDS-PAGE, samples were transferred to a Hybond P membrane, and stained with 1/800 diluted anti-DjPlac8-A antibody or 1/5000 diluted anti- α -tubulin (Sigma, T9026) as the primary antibody. Then the membrane was incubated with 1/5000 diluted secondary antibody (cytiva, RPN420). Signals were detected using SuperSignal West Dura Extended Duration Substrate (Pierce).

4.7 FACS-based single cell RT-PCR

FACS-based single cell RT-PCR (FBSC-PCR) was performed as previously described (Hayashi et al., 2010). The forward (FW) and reverse (RV) primer sets used were (5' to 3'):

DjG3PDH (Internal control)

FW: ACCACCAACTGTTTAGCTCCCTTAG RV: GATGGTCCATCAACAGTCTTTTGC *Djplac8-A* FW: AAGAGCAACACAGGTAGTGCTAGGGAGTG RV: AGAAGCACAACAACATTCACCATATCGTG *DjpiwiA* FW: CGAATCCGGGAACTGTCGTAG RV: GGAGCCATAGGTGAAATCTCATTTG

4.8 Whole-mount immunohistochemistry

Planarians were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde/5% methanol in 5/8 Holtfreter's solution for 30 min at room temperature after removing mucus by treatment with 2% HCl in 5/8 Holtfreter's solution. Then, samples were bleached with 6% H₂O₂ overnight at room temperature under fluorescent light. Bleached samples were treated with 50% xylene/methanol for 30 minutes at 4°C and rinsed with 100% ethanol for 30 minutes at 4°C. Then, the samples were rehydrated through a graded ethanol series (75%, 50% and 25%) solutions in 5/8 Holtfreter's solution each for 30 minutes at 4°C. The rehydrated samples were rinsed with Triton-PBS (TPBS : 2.7 mM KCl / 8.1 mM Na₂HPO₄ \cdot 12H₂O / 136.9 mM NaCl / 1.5 mM KH2 PO4 / 0.1% Triton X-200)

for 30 minutes at 4°C. Permeabilization was performed with 5 µg/ml Proteinase K in TPBS for 12 min at 37°C. Next, samples were post-fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde / 5% methanol in 5/8 Holtfreter's solution for 30 minutes and rinsed with TPBS at 4°C. After blocking using 10% goat serum in TPBS, the samples were incubated with 10% goat serum in TPBS containing primary antibody overnight at 4°C. The dilution of primary antibody used was 1/800 for anti-DjPlac8-A, 1/500 for anti-DjPiwiA (Yoshida-Kashikawa et al. 2007), and 1/200 for anti-pH3 (Upstate, 06-570). The samples were washed with TPBS several times at room temperature and incubated with 10% goat serum in TPBS containing 1/1000 fluorescent-labeled secondary antibody (Alexa Fluor 594 or Alexa Fluor 488 (Molecular Probe) and 1 µg/ml Hoechst 33342 (Calbiochem) overnight at 4°C. The samples were observed with a confocal microscope (FLUOVIEW FV10i; Olympus, Tokyo, Japan) or a fluorescence stereoscopic microscope (M205FA T-RC 1; Leica, Germany).

4.9 Whole-mount in situ hybridization

For RNA probe synthesis, the plasmid pCR®II-TOPO containing the gene *Djplac8-A* or the plasmid pBluescript SK containing the gene *Djrunt-1* was used. The DNA linearized with Not1 at the 5' end of the target gene was used as template. Before the transcription, linearized DNA was purified using phenol/chloroform extraction and ethanol precipitation. Then the product was used as a template for antisense RNA transcription by Sp6 RNA

polymerase (Promega) or T7 RNA polymerase (Fermentas). After transcription, the probe was purified using ethanol precipitation and stored at -80°C. For fixation, bleaching, permeabilization, and post-fixation steps, the same procedures as used for whole-mount immunohistochemistry were employed. After post-fixation, the samples were soaked in hybridization solution for 1 hour at 55°C, and hybridized with Dig-labeled antisense RNA probe (which had been denatured previously for 20 minutes at 55°C) in hybridization solution for 36 hours at 55°C. Then, the samples were washed with wash solution 3 times for 30 minutes each and 3 times for 1 hour at 55 $^{\circ}$ C and rinsed with Buffer I (0.1 M maleic acid / 5x SSC / 0.1% Tween-20:pH 7.5) twice for 5 minutes each at room temperature. Then samples were treated with Buffer II (1% blocking reagent (Roche diagnostics) in Buffer I) for blocking for 30 minutes at room temperature and treated with 1/2000 alkaline phosphatase-conjugated anti-Digoxigenin antibody (Roche Diagnostics, 1093274) in BufferII overnight at 4° °C. Then, the samples were rinsed with Buffer I 6 times for 30 minutes each at room temperature and washed with TMN (0.1 M Tris-HCl / 0.1 M NaCl / 50 mM MgCl₂: pH 9.5) solution 2 times for 5 minutes each at room temperature. A mixture of 3.5 µg/mL 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl phosphatase (Roche Diagnostics) and 1.8 µg/mL 4-nitro blue tetrazolium chloride (Roche Diagnostics) in TMN solution was used for detecting signals. After the detection, TE buffer was used to stop the reaction and the samples were kept in TE buffer at 4°C.

4. 10 Whole-mount fluorescent in situ hybridization

All steps before detection of the signal were performed in the same way as for wholemount *in situ* hybridization. To detect signals, a Tyramide Signaling Amplification kit (Molecular Probe TSATM Kit #12, with HRP-goat anti-rabbit IgG and Alexa Fluor 488® tyramide, Eugene, Oregon, USA) was used for color development.

4. 11 Quantitative RT- PCR

Total RNA was extracted using ISOGEN-LS (Wako) as follows: 50 µl of ISOGEN-LS was added to samples (all fragments obtained by amputation were used for regenerating samples). The samples were homogenized and then 700 µl of ISOGEN-LS was added. Then total RNA was extracted according to the manufacturer's instructions and cDNA was synthesized by using a QuantiTect Reverse Transcription Kit® according to the manufacturer's instructions (QIAGEN). The synthesized cDNA was diluted (x20) and used for gene expression analysis by quantitative (q)RT-PCR. 10 microliters of real-time PCR mixture containing 1x QuantiTect SYBR green PCR master mix (QIAGEN), 0.3 µM gene-specific forward / reverse primers and 1 µL of diluted cDNA template was analyzed using an ABI PRISM 7900 HT (Applied Biosystems). The reactions were carried out as follows : 50°C for 2 minutes, 95°C for 15 minutes, 50 cycles of 95°C for 15 seconds, 60°C for 30 seconds, 72°C for 1 minute. The forward (FW) and reverse (RV) primer sets used were (5' to 3'): *DjG3PDH* (Internal control)

FW: ACCACCAACTGTTTAGCTCCCTTAG

RV: GATGGTCCATCAACAGTCTTTTGC

рспа

FW: ACCTATCGTGTCACTGTCTTTGACCGAAAA

RV: TTCATCATCTTCGATTTTCGGAGCCAGATA

mcm2

FW: CGCTGTTGGACAAGGTCAGAAGAATGAACA

RV: CCAGAAACACAAATCTACATCTTCCAAAGG

Djplac8

FW: AAGAGCAACACAGGTAGTGCTAGGGAGTG

RV: AGAAGCACAACAACATTCACCATATCGTG

DjP2X-A

FW: GATTTCAACAATGGAATGAATTTTAGATA

RV: AAAATGTGAAACAAGTAGCAGGATCA

Djrunt-1

FW: CGGCCATCGAGTATGGTTAT

RV: ACGGCAACAATGTTTGGATT

4. 12 Chemical inhibitor treatment

JNK inhibitor SP600125 (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, USA) and MAPK/ERK kinase (MEK) inhibitor U0126 (Cell Signaling Technology, Massachusetts, USA) were dissolved in dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) at 100 mM and 10 mM, respectively. Amputated planarians were treated with 5 μ M SP600125 from 12 hours after amputation until the indicated period of regeneration for optimal JNK inhibition, or with 25 μ M SP600125 or U0126 at 4 hours after amputation for strong inhibition of JNK or ERK, respectively, for the indicated period of regeneration for each experiment.

5. Results

5.1 Knockdown of *Djplac8-A* increases fission frequency

First, I screened the neoblast-specific genes identified by comprehensive gene expression analysis, HiCEP, based on expectable conserved gene functions known in other organisms (Shibata et al., 2012). Among them, I focused on HiCEP clone number 37 gene, which has homology to *plac8*, because *plac8* has various known functions in cellular regulation, including regulation of proliferation and differentiation (Bedell et al., 2012; Guo et al., 2010; Jimenez-Preitner et al., 2011; Mao et al., 2019). Especially, many previous reports showed that the major function of *plac8* is regulation of proliferation as mentioned above (Guo and Simmons, 2011; Libault et al., 2010). Thus, I named this gene *Djplac8-A* and performed RNAi targeting *Djplac8-A* to test the possibility that this gene is involved in induced hyper-proliferation.

There are several RNAi methods using double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) to knockdown a specific gene in planarian; 1) injection RNAi, 2) soaking RNAi, and 3) feeding RNAi (shortterm and long-term) (Rouhana et al., 2013; Sakurai et al., 2012). Among them, I employed a long-term RNAi method to investigate the function of *Djplac8-A*. This unique method was established in a previous study investigating a gene involved in induced hyper-proliferation after feeding, *DjP2X-A* (Fig. 4; Sakurai et al., 2012). Long-term feeding RNAi enables assessment of the proliferation status of neoblasts after feeding by counting the number of fissions of planarians subjected to RNAi (Fig 7). For example, long-term *DjP2X-A(RNAi)* animals showed enhanced induced hyper-proliferation followed by higher fission frequency, suggesting that *DjP2X-A* is involved in neoblast proliferation after feeding (Sakurai et al., 2012).



Fig 7. Time schedule of long-term feeding RNAi. During the first 1 week, a series of 3 successive feeding RNAis were conducted. After that, one feeding RNAi was conducted additionally per month. Fission was counted after a series of 3 successive feeding RNAis.

I fed planarians liver extract containing dsRNA targeting the *Djplac8-A* once per week for a month plus 3 successive feedings, as in previous reports (Rouhana et al., 2013; Sakurai et al., 2012). Interestingly, *Djplac8-A* knockdown caused increased fission frequency (Fig. 8). *Djplac8-A* (*RNAi*) animals underwent fission about 10 times (average), compared to about 3 times (average) for control animals during 30 days (Fig. 8). *DjPlac8-A*(*RNAi*) animals reproducibly showed 3 times higher fission frequency compared to the control animals (n = 10x3), which was comparable to the increase of fission rate observed in *DjP2X-A*(*RNAi*)
planarians (Fig 8; Sakurai et al., 2012). A question was raised by this finding, namely, do Djplac8-A(RNAi) animals undergo fission earlier than control animals even though they are a small size which is smaller than the size at which fission normally occurs, or do Djplac8-A(RNAi) animals more quickly reach the size at which fission normally occurs by growing faster? To answer this question, I measured the length of head fragments and tail fragments after fission and summed them. Both control and Djplac8-A(RNAi) animals underwent fission when they were over about 8~9 mm (Fig 9). These results suggest that Djplac8-A(RNAi) animals regenerated in neoblast proliferation after feeding, resulting in a faster growth rate in Djplac8-A(RNAi) animals regenerated normally after fission or artificial amputation (data not shown) indicating that normal differentiation of neoblasts appeared to occur in Djplac8-A knockdown animals, as it was also reported to occur in DjP2X-A(RNAi) planarians (Sakurai et al. 2012).



Fig. 8. Total fission events in *Djplac8-A* **knockdown animals.** 3 independent experiments were conducted. 10 animals (6~7mm) were analyzed for each experiment.



Fig. 9. Measurement of the size at which fission occurred in *Djplac8-A(RNAi)* **animals.** (A) Head fragment and tail fragment after fission. A indicates anterior of fragment. P indicates posterior of fragment. (B) Sum of length of head fragment and tail fragment after fission. 20 (6~7 mm) animals were analyzed for each experiment.

In addition, I conducted double-feeding RNAi of *Djplac8-A* and *DjP2X-A* for 1 month to examine whether there was an enhancement of the fission rate when these 2 genes were knocked-down. *Djplac8-A* and *DjP2X-A(RNAi)* planarians underwent fission 10 times,

compared to 3 times for control animals at 30 days, thus showing about 3 times higher fission frequency compared to the control animals (Fig, 10), which was the same as the result of single RNAi of Djplac8-A(RNAi) or DjP2X-A(RNAi). This result indicated that there was no synergistic effect on fission events between Djplac8-A and DjP2X-A after feeding, and that Djplac8-A and DjP2X-A functions might be exerted in parallel.



Fig. 10. Total fission events in *Djplac8-A* and *DjP2X-A* double knockdown animals. 10 animals were analyzed for each experiment.

5.2 Djplac8-A is expressed in most DjpiwiA-expressing neoblasts

In order to investigate the expression pattern of *Djplac8-A*, first I performed wholemount *in situ* hybridization of *Djplac8-A* with or without X-ray irradiation. The expression of *Djplac8-A* showed an expression pattern typical of a neoblast-specific gene, in which *Djplac8*- *A*-expressing cells were located throughout all body regions posterior to the head region except in the pharyngeal region. Indeed, the *in situ* hybridization signal of *Djplac8-A* disappeared in X-ray-irradiated planarians, in which neoblasts were eliminated (Fig. 11A). Thus, I confirmed the reported neoblast-specific expression of *Djplac8-A* (Shibata et al., 2012). This expression pattern is identical to the expression



Fig. 11. Expression pattern of *Djplac8-A*. (A) Expression pattern of *Djplac8-A* shown by whole-mount in situ hybridization in intact and X-ray-irradiated animals. Scale bar is 1 mm. Asterisk indicates pharynx region. (B) Co-expression analysis of *Djplac8-A* and *DjpiwiA* by FACS-based single-cell PCR. Each circle represents a single cell in the FACS profile.

pattern of *DjpiwiA* (one of the most reliable neoblast marker genes). Among the neoblastspecific genes that showed a similar expression pattern to *DjpiwiA*, *DjP2X-A* was reported to be expressed heterogeneously in the *DjpiwiA*-positive population (in about 50% of *DjpiwiA*⁺expressing neoblasts) (Sakurai et al., 2012; Shibata et al., 2012). Next, I examined the expression of *Djplac8-A* at the single cell level in the *DjpiwiA*-positive population by FACSbased single-cell PCR (FBSC-PCR). I performed gene expression analysis on the Index Sorting profile obtained by FBSC-PCR in intact animals. Nearly all (97% of) *Djplac8-A*-expressing cells were in the X1 fraction plus X2 fraction (231/238), which were neoblast-enriched fractions. Also, 84% of the expression of *Djplac8-A* was detected in *DjpiwiA*-expressing neoblasts (190/227) (Fig. 11B) (Hayashi et al., 2010, 2006). Thus, *Djplac8-A* was expressed throughout almost the entire *DjpiwiA*-expressing neoblasts population.

5.3 DjPlac8-A is a membrane protein

Next, I analyzed the subcellular localization of DjPlac8-A protein in the neoblasts by immunostaining using an anti-DjPlac8-A antibody that I raised. This antibody specifically recognized a 16-kDa protein in western blotting, which was coincident with the predicted size of DjPlac8-A protein (Fig. 12B). To check the specificity of the antibody, I conducted immunostaining of Diplac8-A(RNAi) planarians, and found that the signal disappeared in the RNAi animals (Fig. 12C), confirming the specificity of the antibody. Immunostaining using this antibody revealed that the signal was generally observed in neoblasts that were also positive for DjPiwiA protein, in accord with the result of FBSC-PCR (Fig 12. A, D; see also Yoshida-Kashikawa et al., 2007). DjPlac8-A was localized in the outermost region in the cytoplasm of the neoblasts, whereas DjPiwiA protein was observed widely throughout the cytoplasm of the neoblasts (Fig. 12D, upper panel). I also performed co-immunostaining with a planarian membrane protein, DjP2X-A, an ATP-dependent ion channel protein, since a previous report showed that DjP2X-A is localized on the cell membrane of about half of the neoblasts (Sakurai et al., 2012). Co-localization of DjPlac8-A and DjP2X-A was observed (Fig. 12D, lower panel), strongly suggesting that DjPlac8-A is a cell membrane protein or associated with a cell membrane protein(s). This indicated that the subcellular localization of DjPlac8-A protein is in accord with the reported localization of Plac8 protein in other organisms (Guo et al., 2010).



Fig. 12. Subcellular localization of DjPlac8-A. (A) Whole-mount immunohistochemistry using anti-DjPlac8-A antibody (green) and anti-PiwiA antibody (magenta) in intact animal. Scale bars, 1 mm. (B) Western blotting of intact planarians using anti-DjPlac8-A antibody. (C) Immunostaining with anti-DjPlac8-A antibody in control and Djplac8-A knockdown animals. Scale bars, 50 μm. (D) Upper panel: Immunohistochemistry using anti-DjPlac8-A antibody (green) and anti-PiwiA antibody (magenta) in intact animal. Scale bars, 10 μm. Lower panel: Immunohistochemistry using anti-DjPlac8-A antibody (magenta) in intact animal. Arrows indicate co-localization of Djplac8-A and DjP2X-A. Scale bars, 10 μm.

Although most DjPiwiA-positive cells were also positive for DjPlac8-A, it was noteworthy that 2 subpopulations of neoblasts were negative for DjPlac8-A: *Djnanos*-positive neoblasts localized in the dorsolateral side of the body (Sato et al., 2006), and the *Djpiwi*-1-positive subpopulation localized on the dorsal longitudinal midline (Rossi et al., 2006) (Fig. 13).



Fig. 13. Subpopulations of neoblasts did not express DjPlac8-A. (A) Red line of schematic drawing indicates midline. Scale bars, 40 μm. (B) Red lines of schematic drawing indicate regions expressing DjNanos. Scale bars, 10 μm.

plac8 family genes have a conserved domain called the Plac8 superfamily domain (Fig. 14A). In our *D. japonica* EST database (Nishimura et al., 2015; An et al., 2018), I identified 6 other genes possessing the Plac8 superfamily domain in addition to *Djplac8-A* (Fig. 14B). One of them was highly similar to *Djplac8* reported from another laboratory, which is related to immune response and development in planarian (Pang et al., 2017). Except for this *plac8*, I named the other 5 newly found homologs *Djplac8-B* to *-F*, and determined their expression

patterns: the expression patterns of *Djplac8-B* to *-F* genes showed no difference between animals with/without X-ray irradiation, suggesting that they were not expressed in the neoblasts (Fig. 14C), and therefore I focused on only *Djplac8-A* thereafter in this study.



Fig. 14. *plac8* family genes in *D. japonica.* (A) Homology of Plac8 superfamily domain of DjPlac8-A with the domains of Plac8 proteins in other animals. (B) Predicted amino acid sequences of *plac8* family genes in *D. japonica.* (C) Expression pattern of *D. japonica plac8* family genes detected by whole-mount *in situ* hybridization in intact and X-ray-irradiated planarians.

5.4 Djplac8-A is involved in induced hyper-proliferation after feeding

First, I performed RT-PCR to examine the expression dynamics of *Djplac8-A* after feeding. The significance of differences of expression levels was evaluated by comparing the expression at each time point to that in the starved state. The expression levels of cell-proliferation marker genes such as *pcna* and *mcm2* increased soon after feeding. The expression levels of *pcna* and *mcm2* increased significantly at 12 hours after feeding, and then decreased to the steady-state level 1 week after feeding, as previously reported (Fig. 15A; see also Sakurai et al., 2012), indicating that hyper-proliferation was induced after feeding. The expression level of *Djplac8-A* was decreased at 12 hours and 24 hours after feeding, and returned to the initial steady-state level 5 days after feeding (Fig. 15B). A negative correlation between induced hyper-proliferation and gene expression after feeding was similarly observed for *DjP2X-A* (Fig. 15B; Sakurai et al., 2012), suggesting that *Djplac8-A* and *DjP2X-A* might have similar roles in induced hyper-proliferation after feeding.



Fig. 15. Expression level of *Djplac8-A* during induced hyper-proliferation after feeding. (A) Relative expression levels of *pcna* and *mcm2* after feeding. (B) Relative expression levels of *Djplac8-A* and *DjP2X-A* after feeding. (A) and (B): Student's t-test was performed comparing expression levels between planarians and starved planarians at each time point. *** P < 0.001, ** P < 0.005, and * P < 0.05

As mentioned above, enhanced induced hyper-proliferation was reported after feeding in *DjP2X-A* knockdown planarians (Sakurai et al., 2012). Therefore, I investigated whether induced hyper-proliferation was enhanced in *Djplac8-A* knockdown animals after feeding. *Djplac8-A* knockdown animals showed higher expression levels of *pcna* than control animals from 12 hours to 7 days after feeding, indicating that the feeding-induced hyper-proliferation of neoblasts was enhanced by *Djplac8-A* knockdown, as it was by *DjP2X-A* knockdown (Fig. 16A). Also, after feeding, *DjP2X-A(RNAi)* animals showed an increase of M-phase neoblasts (neoblasts positive for anti-phosphohistone H3 (pH3) immunostaining) cells at the region directly anterior to the pharynx in a previous report (Sakurai et al., 2012). I employed the same method to count pH3-positive cells as in that previous report (Sakurai et al., 2012), and found that the number of pH3-positive cells increased in Djplac8-A(RNAi) animals, as it did in DjP2X-A(RNAi) animals (Fig. 16B, C). These results indicate that Djplac8-A expression is negatively correlated with induced hyper-proliferation after feeding, and thus may modulate neoblast proliferation, as does DjP2X-A expression.



Fig. 16. Enhancement of induced hyper-proliferation after feeding in *Djplac8-A(RNAi)* animals. (A) Relative expression level of *pcna* after feeding in control animals and in *Djplac8-A(RNAi)* animals. Gene expression levels measured by qRT-PCR were analyzed in 3 biological replicates. Expression levels of genes at each time are relative to those in starved animals. (B) Quantification of the number of pH3-positive cells after feeding in control animals and *Djplac8-A(RNAi)* animals (n = 5). (A) and (B): Student's t-test was performed between control animals and *Djplac8-A(RNAi)* animals. *** P < 0.001, ** P < 0.005, and * P < 0.05. Error bars indicate SEM. st means starved planarians. (C) pH3-positive cells in control animals and *Djplac8-A(RNAi)* animals at 24 hours after the third feeding. Scale bar: 100 µm. Unit volume: $6.2 \times 10^{-3} \text{ mm}^3$ (boxed region).

5.5 Djplac8-A is involved in induced hyper-proliferation after amputation

Although I showed that *Djplac8-A* might modulate the induced hyper-proliferation after feeding, similarly to *DjP2X-A*, whether these genes are also involved in induced hyper-proliferation after amputation still remained unknown. Thus, I examined whether hyper-

proliferation was induced after amputation in D. japonica by performing RT-PCR, because there have been no reports regarding this. The significance of differences of expression levels was evaluated by comparing the expression at each time point to that at 0 hours after amputation. The expression levels of proliferative markers were significantly increased rapidly (within 12 hours) after amputation compared to the levels at 0 hours after amputation, as they were in the case of induced hyper-proliferation after feeding, and returned to the steady-state level within 1 week (Fig. 17A). Although the patterns of the time course and level of increases or decreases of proliferative marker expression were slightly different depending on the particular experiments and proliferative markers examined, I confirmed that their expression levels certainly increased after amputation (and also after feeding), and then returned to the steadystate expression levels within 1 week (Fig 15A,17A). Thus, I concluded that proliferation is accelerated after amputation in D. japonica, as it is in other planarian species. In S. mediterranea, 2 types of induced hyper-proliferation after amputation were reported (Wenemoser and Reddien, 2010): an early response to lesions caused by piercing or lesioning with/without amputation, and a late regeneration-dependent response caused by loss of body part(s) by amputation (Wenemoser and Reddien, 2010). However, I could not detect any obvious induced hyper-proliferation in simply pierced or injured planarians without amputation in D. japonica (Fig. 18).



Fig. 17. Expression levels of *Djplac8-A* and *DjP2X-A* during Induced hyper-proliferation after amputation. (A) Relative expression levels of *pcna* and of *mcm2* after amputation. (B) Relative expression levels of *Djplac8-A* and of *DjP2X-A* after amputation. Student's t-test was performed by comparing expression levels between each time point and 0 hours after amputation. (A) and (B): Student's t-test was performed comparing expression levels between each time point and 0 hours after amputation. *** P < 0.001, ** P < 0.005, and * P < 0.05.



Fig. 18. Relative expression levels of proliferative markers after piercing. Relative expression levels of *pcna* and *mcm2* after piercing. Gene expression levels measured by qRT-PCR were analyzed in 3 biological replicates. Expression level of genes at each time is relative to that at 0 hour after piercing. Error bars indicate SEM.

Next, I examined the expression levels of *DjP2X-A* and *Djplac8-A* after amputation. Interestingly, the expression level of *Djplac8-A* was significantly reduced (by about 50%) within 12 hours after amputation. Down-regulation of Diplac8-A expression was detected during an early stage of regeneration (until 3 days after amputation), and then Diplac8-A expression gradually recovered to the steady-state level by 7 days after amputation. In contrast, DjP2X-A expression did not significantly change after amputation (Fig. 17B). The expression patterns of proliferation markers and Djplac8-A showed opposite trends, as observed in the case of induced hyper-proliferation after feeding, suggesting that Djplac8-A, but not DjP2X-A, is negatively correlated with the induced hyper-proliferation after amputation. To confirm this, I monitored the induced hyper-proliferation in Djplac8-A (RNAi) animals. For this, I employed the injection RNAi method, which is introduction of dsRNA directly into the planarian digestive duct to avoid the induction of hyper-proliferation by feeding. As expected, Diplac8-A(RNAi) animals showed higher expression of pcna than control animals at all time points examined within 1 week after amputation (Fig. 19A). The number of pH3-positive cells was also significantly increased at all the time points examined in these Djplac8-A knockdown animals (Fig. 19B, C). These results indicate that *Diplac8-A* exerts a negative effect on induced hyper-proliferation after amputation. I also examined whether induced hyper-proliferation was



Fig. 19. Enhancement of induced hyper-proliferation after amputation in *Djplac8-A(RNAi)* animals, but not in *DjP2X-A(RNAi)* animals. (A) Relative expression level of *pcna* after amputation in control animals and in *Djplac8-A(RNAi)* animals. Gene expression levels measured by qRT-PCR were analyzed in 3 biological replicates. Expression level of genes at each time is relative to that at 0 hours after amputation. (B) Quantification of number of pH3-positive cells after amputation in control animals and *Djplac8-A(RNAi)* animals (n = 5). (A) and (B) Student's t-test was performed by comparison between control animals and *RNAi* animals. ** P < 0.005, and * P < 0.05. Error bars indicate SEM. (C) pH3-positive cells in control animal and *Djplac8-A(RNAi)* animal at 24 hours after amputation. Scale bars: 100 µm. Unit volume: 6.2 x 10^{-3} mm³ (boxed region). (D) Relative expression level of *pcna* after amputation in control animals and *DjP2X-A(RNAi)* animals. Gene expression levels measured by qRT-PCR were analyzed in 3 biological replicates. Expression level of *pcna* after amputation in control animals and *DjP2X-A(RNAi)* animals. Gene expression level of *pcna* after amputation in control animals and *DjP2X-A(RNAi)* animals. Gene expression level of *pcna* after amputation in control animals and *DjP2X-A(RNAi)* animals. Gene expression levels measured by qRT-PCR were analyzed in 3 biological replicates. Expression level of genes at each time is relative to that at 0 hours after amputation. (E) Quantification of number of pH3-positive cells after amputation in control animals and *DjP2X-A(RNAi)* animals (n = 5).

(D) and (E) Student's t-test was performed by comparison between control animals and *RNAi* animals. Error bars indicate SEM. (F) pH3-positive cells in control animal and *DjP2X-A(RNAi)* animal at 24 hours after amputation. Scale bars, 100 μ m. Unit volume, 6.2 x 10⁻³ mm³ (boxed region).

enhanced after amputation in DjP2X-A(RNAi) planarians, but no acceleration of induced hyperproliferation was observed after amputation in these planarians (Fig. 19D, E, F), indicating that DjP2X-A is dispensable for induced hyper-proliferation after amputation. Thus, Djplac8-A is the only gene demonstrated thus far to be involved in induced hyper-proliferation after both feeding and amputation, and DjP2X-A is only involved in the induced hyper-proliferation after feeding (Fig. 20).



Fig. 20. Schematic drawing illustrating genes involved in induced proliferation after feeding and amputation. After feeding, expression levels of both *Djplac8-A* and *DjP2X-A* are decreased. In contrast, after amputation, only the expression level of *Djplac8-A* is decreased, not the expression level of *DjP2X-A*.

5.6 *Djplac8-A* expression disappeared from neoblasts located in the post-blastema region after amputation

I performed *in situ* hybridization to examine the spatial expression pattern of *Djplac8-A* expression during regeneration after amputation. Interestingly, I found that expression of *Djplac8-A* was drastically reduced in the post-blastema region (i.e., the regions posterior to the head blastema and anterior to the tail blastema) during regeneration at 12 hours and 24 hours after amputation (Fig. 21A). Immunostaining showed also spatial reduction of *Djplac8-A* expression at 24 hours after amputation, although neoblasts (as indicated by DjPiwiA immunostaining) were present in the post-blastema region (Fig. 21B). As regeneration proceeded, the expression of *Djplac8-A* recovered in the anterior region (except in the head) and in the posterior region, with restoration of the normal expression pattern at 7 days after amputation (Fig. 21A). Immunostaining and western blotting also indicated that DjPlac8-A protein decreased in the post-blastema region during regeneration, whereas the DjPlac8-A level remained unchanged in the rest of the body (Fig 21. C, D, and E). Therefore, I concluded that the expression of *Djplac8-A* and its protein were transiently reduced in neoblasts located in the post-blastema region during the early stage of regeneration.



Fig. 21. Expression dynamics of Djplac8-A mRNA and protein during regeneration. (A) Expression pattern of *Djplac8-A* mRNA during regeneration determined by whole-mount *in situ* hybridization. Broken lines show boundaries between regions where the expression of *Djplac8-A* was detected and was not detected. Scale bar, 1 mm. (n = 15, 15/15) (B) Co-expression of *DjPlac8-A* and DjPiwiA immunostaining in regenerating animal. Planarians were fixed 24 hours after amputation. Broken line shows boundary between regions where expression of *Djplac8-A* was detected and was not detected. Scale bars, 150 μ m. (n = 7, 7/7) (C) Western blotting of DjPlac8-A during regeneration (D) Co-immunostaining of DjPiwiA and DjPlac8-A in post-blastema region (boxed region). Planarians were fixed 24 hours after amputation. Scale bar, 10 μ m. (E) Co-immunostaining of DjPiwiA and DjPlac8-A in indicated body region (boxed region). Scale bars, 10 μ m. (n = 7, 7/7)

5.7 Activation of JNK signaling represses *Djplac8-A* expression in neoblasts after amputation

Previous studies showed that the post-blastema region after amputation contains many M-phase neoblasts (Saló and Baguñà, 1984; Tasaki et al., 2011b). Also, it has been reported that JNK is activated in the post-blastema region during early regeneration (Tasaki et al., 2011b). Accordingly, next I examined the possible role of JNK signaling in Djplac8-A expression and induced hyper-proliferation. First, I visualized the activation of JNK using antiphosphorylated JNK (pJNK) antibody in head-regenerating planarians, and confirmed that JNK was activated in the post-blastema region (where Diplac8-A mRNA was decreased), as reported (Fig. 22A; Tasaki et al., 2011b). Then, to test whether JNK signaling can indeed regulate the expression of Diplac8-A in this region during regeneration, I examined the expression of *Diplac8-A* in planarians treated with 25 µM SP600125, which is a JNK inhibitor, after amputation. A previous report showed that treatment with 25 µM SP600125 caused loss of almost all mitotic neoblasts by blocking the entry into M-phase of the cell cycle (Tasaki et al., 2011b). In control animals, expression of *Djplac8-A* decreased in the post-blastema region at 24 hours after amputation (Fig. 22B, upper panel), but in SP600125-treated planarians, Diplac8-A was still expressed in neoblasts there (Fig. 22B, lower panel). I then measured the expression level of Djplac8 after amputation in SP00125-treated planarians by qRT-PCR. In the inhibitor-treated animals, the level of expression of *pcna* was not increased. Furthermore, the level of expression of *Djplac8-A* was not changed in SP600125-treated planarians after amputation, in contrast to the decrease of the expression level of *Djplac8-A* in control amputated animals (Fig. 22C). Taken together, these findings led me to conclude that activation of JNK signaling contributes to the induced hyper-proliferation via repression of *Djplac8-A* expression in neoblasts located in the post-blastema region after amputation.



Fig. 22. Relationship between expression of *Djplac8-A* and JNK signaling. (A) Expression of *Diplac8-A* and activation of JNK during early regeneration. Signals for Diplac8-A (green) were detected by in situ hybridization, and signals for activation of JNK were detected by immunohistochemistry using anti-phosphorylated JNK antibody (magenta). Scale bars, 150 μ m. (n = 7, 7/7) (B) Expression pattern of *Djplac8-A* at 24 hours after amputation in control animal and SP600125-treated animal. Broken line shows boundary between regions where expression of Diplac8-A was detected and not detected. Scale bars, 1 mm. (n = 10, 10/10: DMSO-treated planarians showed reduction of Djplac8-A expression at 24 hours after amputation in post-blastema region. 9/10 SP600125-treated planarians showed no expression change of *Diplac8-A* at 24 hours after amputation in post-blastema region.) (C) Relative expression levels of pcna and Diplac8-A in control animals and SP600125-treated animals after amputation. Gene expression levels measured by qRT-PCR were analyzed from 3 biological replicates. Expression level of genes at each time is relative to that at 0 hours after amputation. Student's t-test was performed by comparison between control animals and inhibitortreated animals or comparison between each time point and 0 hours. *** P < 0.001, ** P < 0.005, and * P < 0.05. Error bars indicate SEM.

Next, I tested the possibility that ERK signaling affects the expression of Djplac8-A and the induced hyper-proliferation of neoblasts, since the ERK signaling pathway is also known to be one of the major signaling pathways for promoting the proliferation of stem cells, such as spermatogonial stem cells (Hasegawa et al., 2013), although the role of ERK signaling was reported to promote the differentiation of the neoblasts in D. japonica (Tasaki et al., 2011a). I checked the induced hyper-proliferation of neoblasts and the expression of Diplac8-A in regenerating animals treated with U0126, a MEK-specific inhibitor that specifically blocks ERK signaling (Favata et al., 1998; Tasaki et al., 2011a). Planarians were amputated and treated with 25 µM U0126, which blocks the neoblasts' differentiation (Tasaki et al., 2011a; Umesono et al., 2013). First, I monitored induced hyper-proliferation by detecting the expression level of *pcna*, and found relatively weaker elevation of *pcna* expression in the U0126-treated animals compared to the increase of *pcna* expression in the amputated control animals (Fig. 23A). The expression level of Djplac8-A was not changed by U0126 treatment after amputation (Fig. 23A). These results raised the question of whether ERK signaling can directly affect the expression of Djplac8-A, or whether ERK signaling affected Djplac8-A expression via a signaling cascade through JNK phosphorylation. To answer this, I monitored the activation of JNK in U0126-treated planarians by immunostaining with anti-pJNK antibody, which revealed that the signal of pJNK was greatly reduced in the post-blastema region in U0126-treated planarians (Fig. 23B). Taken together, these findings suggest that U0126 induced failure of the

activation of JNK signaling, resulting in a low level of induced hyper-proliferation in planarians after amputation. Thus, induced hyper-proliferation after amputation might require both JNK signaling and ERK signaling.



Fig. 23. Relationship between expression of *Djplac8-A* and ERK signaling. (A) Relative expression levels of *pcna* and *Djplac8-A* in control animals and U0126-treated animals after amputation. Student's t-test was performed by comparison between control animals and inhibitor-treated animals or comparison between each time point and 0 hours. *** P < 0.001, ** P < 0.005. Gene expression levels measured by qRT-PCR were analyzed from 3 biological replicates. Expression level of genes at each time is relative to that at 0 hours after amputation. Error bars indicate SEM. (B) JNK activation detected by immunohistochemistry in control animal and U0126-treated animal. Planarians were fixed 9 hours after amputation. Scale bars, 150 μ m. (n = 7, 5/7)

5.8 Induced hyper-proliferation is required for progression of neoblast differentiation

Next, to elucidate the biological consequences of the induced hyper-proliferation of neoblasts after amputation, I investigated whether inhibition of this induced hyper-proliferation affected regeneration. First, I examined the effect of 25 µM SP600125 by treating planarians with 25 µM SP600125 after amputation and allowing them to regenerate. Planarians treated with 25 µM SP600125 throughout regeneration showed severe regenerative failure. At 1 week after amputation, planarians treated continuously with 25 µM SP600125 after amputation showed head and tail regression or died. This regenerative failure was in accord with but more severe than the reported defects when the inhibitor treatment was delayed, namely, incomplete head or tail structure regeneration in planarians treated with 25 µM SP600125 during only a limited time (from after 12 h after amputation until 3 days after amputation) (Tasaki et al., 2011b). That previous report showed that treatment with 25 µM SP600125 after amputation caused failure of regeneration by blocking wound healing in addition to blocking progression of neoblasts' cell cycle from S- to M-phase in almost all neoblasts, as mentioned above (Tasaki et al., 2011b). Therefore, I tested lower concentrations of SP600125, and found that the optimal concentration of SP600125 that enabled normal proliferation by allowing entry into M-phase to some extent, but did not induce hyper-proliferation, was 5 µM. At this optimal concentration, planarians regenerated partially, showing regenerative defects as indicated by the incidence of cyclopia and eye-absent planarians (Fig. 24A). Then I tested whether this partial regenerative defect could be abrogated by RNAi of *Djplac8-A*. For this, we amputated and treated planarians with 5 µM SP600125 after a series of injection RNAi treatments against *Diplac8-A*, and then observed the regeneration of these planarians at 1 week after amputation. Most of the control animals (injection of dsRNA of EGFP) with inhibitor treatment (70.8% of planarians) failed to regenerate normally: 13.4% of control animals were dead and 57.4% of them showed cyclopia or no eyes (Fig. 24A, B). In contrast, there was no death of Djplac8-A(RNAi) animals treated with the SP600125. Djplac8-A(RNAi) animals treated with the SP600125 all survived and underwent regeneration. 40% of Diplac8-A(RNAi) animals treated with the SP600125 showed normal eye regeneration, suggesting that they had higher regenerative ability than control animals (Fig. 24B). The ratios of eye-absent animals and cyclops were also decreased compared to those in control animals (Fig. 24B). I also examined the regeneration of visual neurons by performing immunostaining of DjArrestin. Most SP600125-treated Djplac8a(RNAi) animals (86% of planarians; 18/21) completely regenerated the visual neurons, whereas SP600125-treated control animals failed to regenerate these neurons (Fig. 24C). Thus, attenuation of *Diplac8-A* expression by RNAi could rescue the regenerative defects caused by inhibition of JNK signaling.



Fig. 24. Regeneration defects in SP600125-treated animals by knockdown of *Djplac8-A*. (A) Images showing eye regeneration in planarians with SP600125-treatment. Arrows indicate regenerated eyes. Scale bars; 1mm (B) Percentages of animals with defect in eye regeneration after combination of SP600125-treatment and knockdown of *EGFP* and *Djplac8-A*. The percentages were calculated using 3 groups of biological replicates. Each group included 15 planarians. (C) Regeneration of visual neurons detected by immunohistochemistry using anti-Arrestin antibody in planarians with combination of SP600125-treatment and knockdown of *EGFP* and *Djplac8-A* (left: n = 21, 18/21 right: n = 21, 18/21). Scale bars, 50 µm. (D) Quantification of the number of pH3-positive cells in planarians with combination of SP600125-treatment and knockdown of *EGFP* and *Djplac8-A* (n = 5). Student's t-test was performed by comparison between inhibitor-treated *EGFP(RNAi)* animals and inhibitor-treated *Djplac8-A* (*RNAi*) animals. ** P < 0.005, * P < 0.05.

I then tested whether these rescues by RNAi against *Djplac8-A* in SP600125-treated animals are associated with enhanced cell cycling of the neoblasts, like the induced hyper-proliferation caused by reduction of *Djplac8-A* expression in normal planarians. Control SP600125treated(5 μ M) animals did not show induced hyper-proliferation after amputation, although they maintained their basal rate of mitosis (Fig. 24D). In contrast, SP600125-treated(5 μ M) *Djplac8-A(RNAi)* animals showed an increase of mitotic cell number relative to that in control animals, comparable to the amputation-induced increase of mitotic cell number in normal planarians. That is, RNAi of *Djplac8-A* could restore the induced hyper-proliferation in SP600125-treated animals after amputation. These results suggested that reduction of *Djplac8-A* expression alone is sufficient to cause the induced hyper-proliferation after amputation, and this induced hyper-proliferation might play an important role in regeneration by promoting the progression of neoblast differentiation.

To test the importance of induced hyper-proliferation in the cell differentiation of neoblasts, I checked the expression of *runt-1* in SP600125-treated planarians. It was reported that *runt-1* is expressed in a certain population in the neoblast population located in the post-blastema region, and is involved in the commitment of neuronal and eye cells during head regeneration in *S. mediterranea* (Wenemoser et al., 2012). First, I confirmed the expression pattern of *runt-1* in *D. japonica*. Expression of *Djrunt-1* was rapidly increased at 3 hours after amputation and continued to increase during early regeneration (Fig. 25A). This elevation of

Djrunt-1 expression after amputation was attenuated by X-ray irradiation (Fig. 25A). Also, in situ hybridization showed that Djrunt-1 was expressed in the post-blastema region in early regeneration, and this expression was weakened by X-ray irradiation (Fig. 25B). Thus, I confirmed that Djrunt-1 was expressed in the neoblasts localized in the post-blastema region during regeneration, as reported for runt-1 in S. mediterranea (Wenemoser et al., 2012). Finally, I tested the relationships among activation of JNK, reduction of Diplac8-A expression, and expression of *Djrunt-1* by a combinatory experiment using SP600125 and *Djplac8-A(RNAi)*. When planarians were treated with 5 µM SP600125 after amputation, *Djrunt-1* expression was slightly increased, but not to its normal expression level at 12 hours after amputation (Fig. 25C). However, RNAi of Djplac8-A in the inhibitor-treated animals could significantly restore Djrunt-1 expression during early regeneration (Fig. 25D). Taken together, these results suggested that the induced hyper-proliferation caused by inhibition of *Diplac8-A* expression as a result of activation of JNK signaling is crucial for commitment of the neoblasts after amputation.



Fig. 25. Decrease of the expression level of *Djplac8-A* is required to increase of the expression level of *Djrunt-1*. (A) Relative expression level of *runt-1* after amputation. Gene expression levels were analyzed by qRT-PCR from 3 biological replicates. Error bars indicate SEM. (B) Expression pattern of *Djrunt-1* in intact and X-ray-irradiated animals determined by whole-mount *in situ* hybridization. Planarians were fixed at 9 hours after amputation. Scale bar, 100 μ m. (n = 10, 10/10). (C) Relative expression level analysis of *Djrunt-1* at 0 hours and 12 hours after amputation in control animals and SP600125-treated animals. Student's t-test was performed by comparison between control animals and 12 hours after amputation in planarians with SP600125-treatment (optimal) with/without knockdown of *Djplac8-A*. Student's t-test was performed by comparison between inhibitor-treated *EGFP(RNAi)* animals and inhibitor-treated *Djplac8-A*. Student's t-test was performed by comparison between inhibitor-treated *EGFP(RNAi)* animals and inhibitor-treated *Djplac8-A*. RNA*i*) animals. * < 0.05, *** P < 0.001. (C) and (D) Gene expression levels were analyzed by qRT-PCR from 3 biological replicates. Expression level of genes at each time is relative to that at 0 hours after amputation. Error bars indicate SEM.

6. Discussion

6.1 Induced hyper-proliferation as "conserved stem cell behavior" in planarians

Analysis of the dynamics of adult stem cell system in vivo is difficult in mammals because they are few in number and it is hard to access them. However, the high regenerative ability of planarians and their neoblasts (which are the only resource for regeneration) provide advantages for inverstigating the adult stem cell system. The large population of neoblasts make it easy to observe them in vivo, and regeneration using neoblasts give us a simple paradigm for investigating the fundamental roles, proliferation, and differentiation of stem cells. Especially, induced hyper-proliferation is a specific phenomenon in planarians that is useful for investigating the dynamics of proliferation in response to an external stimulus. Induced hyper-proliferation has been known for decades to occur after feeding or amputation in various species of planarians, for example, Dugesia tigrina and S. mediterranea(Baguñà, 1976; Saló and Baguñà, 1984; Wenemoser and Reddien, 2010). During the induced hyper-proliferation, mitotic cells (M-phase cells) are rapidly increased, and thereafter gradually return to the steadystate level within about 1 week (Saló and Baguñà, 1984). Induced hyper-proliferation in response to amputation or feeding, in which neoblasts might supply differentiated cells during regeneration or growth, seems to be a common event across planarian species. In the case of S. *mediterranea*, induced hyper-proliferation after amputation occurs with two phases. The first phase occurs as a result of simple wounding such as stabbing, and the second phase occurs as

a result of complete amputation of the bodies (Wenemoser and Reddien, 2010). However, in *D. japonica,* I found that amputation could accelerate neoblasts' proliferation, but simple wounding without regeneration, such as stabbing, could not evoke such acceleration, which is relevant to the first mitotic phase in *S. mediterranea* (Fig. 18). Thus, the regulation of stem cell responses to wounding seems to differ among planarian species.

6.2 Predictable molecular pathway of induced hyper-proliferation after feeding

Based on the increase of fission frequency, enhanced induced hyper-proliferation in Djplac8-A(RNAi) and DjP2X-A(RNAi) animals and expression patterns of Djplac8-A and DjP2X-A after feeding, all of these results suggest that these two genes have a similar function in the regulation of induced hyper-proliferation after feeding (Fig. 8, 9, 15; Sakurai et al., 2012). Furthermore, double Djplac8-A and DjP2X-A(RNAi) animals showed not a synergistic effect, but the same fission frequency rate as single RNAi animals, strongly suggesting that these two genes might function in parallel or in the same pathway (Fig. 10, 26). It remains necessary to investigate the relationship between Djplac8-A and DjP2X-A in the molecular pathway of regulation of neoblast proliferation, for example, whether one of these genes is upstream to the other. Measuring the expression level of Djplac8-A in DjP2X-A(RNAi) animals (or vice versa) might be helpful for identifying the molecular pathway.

After feeding, nutrient inflow might increase the extracellular ATP concentration. P2X is a membrane receptor of ATP (Di Virgilio and Adinolfi, 2017). Many reports have been shown that stimulation of P2X changes the permeability of ions, resulting in regulation of proliferation in various cells (Baricordi et al., 1999; Harada et al., 2000; Ohtani et al., 2011). Especially in several types of cancer cells, P2X7 and ATP play a crucial role in proliferation regulation, and thus P2X7 has been investigated as a target of cancer treatment (Di Virgilio et al., 2009). By referring to P2X functions in other organisms, possible molecular function(s) of DjP2X-A can be predicted. Restoration of the DjP2X-A protein level may increase the ion influx during induced hyper-proliferation after feeding to suppress hyper-proliferation, and as a result steady state proliferation might be restored. However, in DjP2X-A(RNAi) animals, neoblasts might not be able to restore the steady state after induced hyper-proliferation because of their failure to increase the DjP2X-A level, resulting in their faster growth and increased fission frequency (Sakurai et al., 2012). One of the interesting studies showing a relationship between P2X and proliferation showed that P2X regulates not only proliferation of pancreatic beta-cells but also their secretion of insulin, which is one of major anabolic hormones (Ohtani et al., 2011). In S. mediterranea, it has been reported that insulin-like peptide modulates neoblast proliferation depending on nutrient conditions (Miller and Newmark, 2012). These reports suggest the possibility that DjP2X-A influences insulin-like peptide secretion for regulating neoblasts' proliferation after feeding.

In addition to insulin-like peptide, mTOR signaling, which is a conserved signaling pathway that relates nutrient intake to cell proliferation in many types of cells, might be involved in induced hyper-proliferation after feeding (Gokhale and Shingleton. 2015). It has been reported that mTOR signaling regulates the neoblast population depending on the nutrient condition (Iglesias et al., 2019). Interaction between *plac8* and the AKT/mTOR pathway was reported in nasopharyneal carcinoma cells, which are a type of cancer cells in the neck (Huang et al., 2020). plac8 inhibits macroautophagy and cell proliferation through the AKT/mTOR pathway. Macroautophagy is one of the processes by which cells digest their organelles, and which has been shown to regulate responses to nutritional stress and tumorigenesis (Huang et al., 2020; Lahiri et al., 2019). My findings support the speculation that down-regulated *plac8* can activate mTOR signaling, and then activated mTOR signaling mediates between the nutritional state and proliferation. Investigation of the relationships of DiP2X-A, Diplac8-A, and possible signaling pathway(s) involved in induced hyper-proliferation after feeding will be required to identify more detailed molecular mechanisms of the induction of hyperproliferation after feeding (Fig. 26).

Furthermore, a recent report showed that the expression level of *blitzschnell(bls)* is decreased after feeding in *S. mediterranea*, similarly to the levels of of *DjP2X-A* and *Djplac8-A* (Pascual-Carreras et al., 2020). RNAi of *bls* caused a similar phenotype, namely increased cell number and body size, to the phenotypes of *DjP2X-A(RNAi)* and *Djplac8-A(RNAi)* animals.

bls regulates the proliferation/apoptosis ratio through mTOR signaling, resulting in a change of body size (Pascual-Carreras et al., 2020). However, *bls* is expressed in differentiated secretory cells, in contrast to *Djplac8-A* and *DjP2X-A*, which are specific to neoblasts, suggesting that induced hyper-proliferation might be regulated by not only neoblasts but also differentiated cells. Further studies of the molecular mechanisms of induced hyperproliferation after feeding will lead to a better understanding of the regulatory systems of neoblasts depending on nutritional conditions. In addition, since cell number regulation is directly related to planarian body size (Takeda et al., 2009), it will be helpful for understanding how constant body size is maintained by planarians during their long life.





Fig. 26. Schematic drawing of possible molecular pathway involved in induced hyperproliferation after feeding. Investigation of the relationship between candidate molecules regulating induced hyper-proliferation is required for unraveling the molecular pathway for induced hyper-proliferation after feeding.
6.3 Predicted molecular function of DjPlac8-A protein in induced hyperproliferation

A recent report showed that one of the *plac8* homologs in the planarians *D. japonica* is related to immune response and development (Pang et al., 2017). Here, we identified 6 additional *plac8* homologs in *D. japonica*, and showed that, among them, *Djplac8-A* is the only neoblast-specific gene that is involved in neoblast proliferation. *plac8* has multiple functions in diverse phyla, from plants to animals, as mentioned above. Thus, plac8 has been called several names, including cell number regulator, onzin, and so on, depending on its function and known related genes. Newly consolidated nomenclature for Plac8 was proposed recently(Cabreira-Cagliari et al., 2018). In plants, most studies showed that plac8 homologs regulate cell proliferation negatively and control the weight and size of fruits in tomato, maize, and so on (Guo et al., 2010; Guo and Simmons, 2011; Libault et al., 2010). On the other hand, diverse functions of *plac8* in animals, including regulation of cell differentiation, proliferation, apoptosis, and migration have been reported (Bedell et al., 2012; Li et al., 2006; Mao et al., 2019). Here, I revealed that Diplac8-A is involved in induced hyper-proliferation of neoblasts via a decrease of its expression level after both amputation and feeding. This supports the notion that *plac8* and its function in regulating cell proliferation and/or differentiation are conserved in many organisms across diverse phyla.

How does DjPlac8-A regulate proliferation of neoblasts in planarian? Since common features of Plac proteins between plants and planarians are that Plac8 is a negative regulator of mitotic activity, and is a membrane-associated protein (Frary et al., 2000; Fig. 12), it is possible to speculate about the detailed molecular function of DjPlac8-A by referring to Plac8 of plants. Because most of the Plac8 in plants is localized as a transmembrane protein, it is considered to affect mitotic activity indirectly (Cong and Tanksley, 2006; Li and He, 2015; Libault et al., 2010). For example, Plac8 regulates cell proliferation negatively by interacting with casein kinase II (CKII) subunit in tomato and soybean. Modified CKII after interacting with Plac8 translocates from the cytosol to the nucleus and activates the CKIIa subunit, which represses the cell cycle (Cong and Tanksley, 2006; Libault et al., 2010). In addition, another report showed a negative correlation between organ size and *plac8* expression level (Li and He, 2015). In this case, Plac8 interacts with AG2, which is an agamous-like MADS domain protein localized at the cell membrane. Then, modified AG2 translocates to the nucleus, and binds to the CArG-box in the Cyclin promotor, resulting in enhanced repression of the cell cycle. However, after a decrease of the Plac8 protein level, AG2 is released without modification from the membrane, resulting in weakened repression of the cell cycle (Li and He, 2015). These results obtained in plants suggest that absence of Plac8 leads to loss of a cell cycle repressor, and consequently promotes cell proliferation (Fig. 27). Therefore, investigating the molecules that interact with DjPlac8-A in future studies will be important for deeply understanding the cell cycle control by DjPlac8-A.



Fig. 27. Schematic drawing showing predicted molecular function of DjPlac8-A protein in induced hyper-proliferation. In the steady state, in which DjPlac8-A is present, the molecular pathway for suppressing the cell cycle can function. However, during induced hyperproliferation, in which DjPlac8-A is absent, this molecular pathway cannot function, resulting in promotion of the cell cycle. Examples of intermediary molecule 1 suggested by referring to previous reports could be CKII β or AG2. Examples of intermediary molecule 2 suggested by referring to previous reports could be CKII α or CArG-box at the Cyclin promotor.

Translocation of the subcellular localization of Plac8 protein from the cell membrane is also commonly observed in vertebrates. For example, in mice, Plac8 is known to translocate from the cell membrane to the nucleus, and to bind there to the promoter of a transcription factor, C/EBPβ, induce its transcription, and consequently promote the differentiation of brown adipocytes (Jimenez-Preitner et al., 2011). I could not observe obvious translocation of DjPlac8-A during regeneration in this study. However, producing DjPlac8-A-GFP transgenic animals might enable us to show more clearly the DjPlac8-A localization pattern in the neoblasts during regeneration in the future. This study revealed that induced hyper-proliferation of neoblasts is important not only for neoblasts' expansion but also for supplying differentiated cells for normal regeneration. The biological role of induced hyper-proliferation in cellular differentiation during planarian regeneration is discussed below.

6.4 JNK and ERK signaling in the induced hyper-proliferation

I showed that activated JNK signaling down-regulates the expression of *Djplac8-A* in the neoblasts located in the post-blastema region after amputation. Treatment of animals with an appropriate concentration of SP600125 that maintained the expression of *Djplac8-A* resulted in failure of induced hyper-proliferation, indicating that JNK signaling elicited induced hyper-proliferation in the neoblast pool after amputation (Fig. 28, 29). In addition, I confirmed that ERK signaling also impacts the expression of *Djplac8-A* after amputation by cooperating with JNK signaling. ERK signaling is known to be important for differentiation of the neoblasts (Tasaki et al., 2011a). At a high concentration of ERK inhibitor, U0126, *de novo* differentiation of somatic cells from the neoblasts was disrupted (Tasaki et al., 2011b). During regeneration in *D. japonica*, neoblasts supply all types of differentiated cells, including cells that secrete

growth factors (Hayashi et al., 2011; Yazawa et al., 2009). This leads us to hypothesize that after amputation, newly differentiated cells are also required for maintaining activated JNK signaling during regeneration, and this activated JNK signaling might regulate the expression level of *Djplac8-A* during regeneration (Fig. 28, 29). It seems likely that U0126 treatment blocked the supply of the cells needed to maintain the activation of JNK signaling after amputation, and consequently the reduction of *Djplac8-A* expression and induced hyper-proliferation were prevented. Thus, I propose that both JNK and ERK signaling might be required to maintain the induced hyper-proliferation during regeneration.



Fig. 28. Signaling pathways involved in induced hyper-proliferation after amputation. Induced hyper-proliferation requires both JNK signaling and ERK signaling. After amputation, activated JNK signaling inhibits *Djplac8-A* and thereby induces hyper-proliferation, and ERK signaling is required for differentiation of cells from neoblasts. Newly differentiated cells might be required to maintain the JNK signaling.

6.5 *Djplac8-A* is a switch for transition of the cellular state of neoblasts during induced hyper-proliferation for regeneration

So far, induced hyper-proliferation has been thought to be a unique feature of neoblasts for enlarging their population at the onset of the regeneration process (Wenemoser and Reddien, 2010). However, my results strongly suggest that induced hyper-proliferation is an indispensable event for rapid and proper supply of differentiated cells during regeneration. Losing body part(s) leads immediately to various kinds of reactions, including wound healing and rearrangement of body polarity in the remaining tissues (Gurley et al., 2010; Kato et al., 2001). Induced hyper-proliferation is regarded as the initial reaction of neoblasts during regeneration. Here I revealed a molecular mechanism involving transition of the cellular state through induced hyper-proliferation. I propose that *Djplac8-A* acts as a switch to shift the state of neoblasts from steady state to active state in early regeneration (Fig. 29).

Djplac8-A is expressed in almost all *piwiA*-expressing neoblasts, except in the *Djnanos*⁺ neoblasts subpopulation and the *Djpiwi-1*⁺ neoblasts subpopulation (Fig. 13). Thus, decreasing the *Djplac8-A* expression can induce a qualitative state change in almost the whole stem cell pool. Although the above two DjPlac8-A⁻ populations should be further characterized, *Djnanos*⁺ neoblasts are considered to be germline-specified stem cells, not somatic cell-specified stem cells, based on previous reports showing a relationship between *nanos* and germline differentiation (Sato et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2007). It is interesting that a simple

mechanism of regulation by one gene (Djplac8-A) can activate almost the whole neoblast population, which consists of several subsets with molecular heterogeneity. Considering this, I can expect that Diplac8-A is quite far up-stream in the molecular pathway of neoblast regulation and thus can influence a variety of consequences, including proliferation and differentiation. The subcellular localization of DjPlac8-A at the cell membrane (or membrane associated) might also support this expectation, because membrane proteins might rapidly sense the extracellular environmental change in response to amputation (and also in response to feeding) (Figs. 12, 27). Therefore, suppression of Djplac8-A might be a rapid strategy to regulate the participation of as many, and as varied, neoblasts as possible for regeneration. A recent report showed a close relationship between cell cycle regulation by factors such as Cyclin and CDKs and proliferation or differentiation of stem cells (Neganova et al., 2009). Especially, it was reported that specification or differentiation of human ESCs occurred during unusual cell cycling such as increasing cell division or expanded G₁ phase because ESCs have a short G1 phase, which has been thought to provide a limited time window during which they accept the differentiation signals (Liu et al., 2019; Neganova et al., 2009). It is basically unknown which phase of the cell cycle is the time for the fate decision for differentiation from stemness in neoblasts. Previous reports showed the possibilities that initialization of differentiation might occur in G2 phase in D. japonica and specification for specific lineages occurs in S phase in S. mediterranea (Hayashi et al., 2010; Van Wolfswinkel et al., 2014).

Recent studies have characterized the fate decision of neoblasts in more detail. Cell cycle arrest by *cdh1* for exiting to G0 is required for *D. japonica* neoblasts to differentiate (Sato et al., 2021). Fate-specific transcription factors are highly expressed in S/G2/M phases in contrast to their lower expression in G1 phase, suggesting that the fate decision occurs in S/G2/M phase in *S. mediterranea* (Raz et al., 2021). Therefore, a qualitative change of the neoblasts' state through cell cycle control by the *Djplac8-A*-pathway could be another clue for disclosing the details of the fate decision of neoblasts.

I revealed that a decrease of *Djplac8-A* expression is required to induce expression of a transcription factor for differentiation (Fig. 25). This suggested that a qualitative state change to an active state of neoblasts by decreasing *Djplac8-A* expression is indispensable for normal regeneration. In mouse, activated HSCs are increased with high expression level of CD34 mRNA to produce differentiated hematopoietic cells by symmetric division after injury (Wilson et al., 2008). Likewise, the active state of *Djplac8-A*-negative neoblasts is essential for producing a sufficient differentiated cell supply by promoting differentiation. In addition, the expression level of *Djplac8-A* might be related to symmetric/asymmetric division of neoblasts, similarly to that of HSCs. It is known that EGF signaling is involved in regulating symmetric/asymmetric division of neoblasts and that through asymmetric division, specified neoblasts produce progeny and themselves retain potency (Lei et al., 2016; Raz et al., 2021). My finding that a decrease of *Djplac8-A* expression can promote differentiation suggests that it is possible that *Djplac8-A*-negative cells become progeny, while neoblasts that restore the *Djplac8-A* expression (*Djplac8-A*-positive cells) might become daughter neoblasts with the potency to differentiate during asymmetric division.

In future studies, it will also be important to examine the function of *Djplac8-A* in the steady state or the return to the steady state from the active state after regeneration through recovery of the expression level of *Djplac8-A*. My results suggested that *Djplac8-A* represses acceleration of the cell cycle in the steady state. Thus, recovery of the expression of Djplac8-A at the end of regeneration is important for precisely balancing the differentiated cell supply and demand in order to avoid abnormal regeneration (Fig. 28). Understanding this kind of mechanism will be helpful in the medical field, including for applications of stem cell therapy. Transplantation of stem cells in the activated state would seem to be useful for increasing the efficiency of stem cell-based therapy, because activated stem cells would proliferate rapidly in vivo and respond faster to environmental stimuli without needing to undergo the process of in vivo activation. Therefore, in-depth studies of the molecular mechanisms regulating heterogeneous stem cell populations will be important for not only stem cell research but also the medical field.



Fig. 29. Schematic drawing showing acquisition of active state of neoblasts via control of *Djplac8-A* **expression.** Molecular mechanism involving transition of the cellular state of neoblasts through induced hyper-proliferation during regeneration.

7. Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Dr. Kiyokazu Agata for giving me the opportunity to study planarians and for his instruction on research, continuing support and encouragement.

I would like to thank Dr. Norito Shibata for giving me instruction and support on research, and encouragement not only on research activity but also on life of studying abroad.

I would like to thank Dr. Yoshihiko Umesono for producing anti-DjPlac8-A antibody. I also thank Dr. Tetsutaro Hayashi and Dr. Shigehiro Kuraku for performing FACS analysis. I also thank Kanon Hisaka for supporting in performing the experiments.

I would like to thank Dr. Elizabeth Nakajima for critical reading and correcting of the manuscript. I also thank Midori Nakayama for her endless encouragement even when I was having a hard time, and all our laboratory members for their help and kind encouragement.

Finally, thanks go to my family, especially my mother Aeri Seo, and my brother Haruo, who are the motivation for my life.

8. References

- Agata, K., Nakajima, E., Funayama, N., Shibata, N., Saito, Y., Umesono, Y., 2006. Two different evolutionary origins of stem cell systems and their molecular basis. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 17, 503–509. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2006.05.004
- Agata, K., Soejima, Y., Kato, K., Kobayashi, C., Umesono, Y., Watanabe, K., 1998. Structure of the planarian central nervous system (CNS) revealed by neuronal cell markers. Zoolog. Sci. 15, 433–440. https://doi.org/10.2108/zsj.15.433
- Agata, K., Tanaka, T., Kobayashi, C., Kato, K., Saitoh, Y., 2003. Intercalary regeneration in planarians. Dev. Dyn. 226, 308–16. https://doi.org/10.1002/dvdy.10249
- Agata, K., Watanabe, K., 1999. Molecular and cellular aspects of planarian regeneration. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 10, 377–383. https://doi.org/10.1006/scdb.1999.0324
- An, Y., Kawaguchi, A., Zhao, C., Toyoda, A., Sharifi-Zarchi, A., Mousavi, S.A.,
 Bagherzadeh, R., Inoue, T., Ogino, H., Fujiyama, A., Chitsaz, H., Baharvand, H., Agata,
 K., 2018. Draft genome of *Dugesia japonica* provides insights into conserved regulatory
 elements of the brain restriction gene nou-darake in planarians. Zool. Lett. 4, 1–12.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s40851-018-0102-2
- Baguñà, J., 1976. Mitosis in the intact and regenerating planarian*Dugesia mediterranea* n.sp.
 I. Mitotic studies during growth, feeding and starvation. J. Exp. Zool. 195, 53–64.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.1401950106

- Baguna, J., Salo, E., Auladell, C., 1989. Regeneration and pattern formation in planarians. III.
 Evidence that neoblasts are totipotent stem cells and the source of blastema cells.
 Development 107, 77–86.
- Baricordi, O.R., Melchiorri, L., Adinolfi, E., Falzoni, S., Chiozzi, P., Buell, G., Di Virgilio,
 F., 1999. Increased proliferation rate of lymphoid cells transfected with the P2X7 ATP receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 33206–33208. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.47.33206
- Bedell, V.M., Person, A.D., Larson, J.D., McLoon, A., Balciunas, D., Clark, K.J., Neff, K.I., Nelson, K.E., Bill, B.R., Schimmenti, L.A., Beiraghi, S., Ekker, S.C., 2012. The lineagespecific gene ponzr1 is essential for zebrafish pronephric and pharyngeal arch development. Development 139, 793–804. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.071720
- Bindu A, H., B, S., 2011. Potency of Various Types of Stem Cells and their Transplantation.J. Stem Cell Res. Ther. 01, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.4172/2157-7633.1000115
- Bonnet, D., 2002. Adult stem cell plasticity. J. Pathol. 197, 441–456. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.1176
- Bowman, S.K., Rolland, V., Betschinger, J., Kinsey, K.A., Emery, G., Knoblich, J.A., 2008.
 The Tumor Suppressors Brat and Numb Regulate Transit-Amplifying Neuroblast
 Lineages in *Drosophila*. Dev. Cell 14, 535–546.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2008.03.004

- Cabreira-Cagliari, C., Dias, N.D.C., Bohn, B., Fagundes, D.G.D.S., Margis-Pinheiro, M., Bodanese-Zanettini, M.H., Cagliari, A., 2018. Revising the PLAC8 gene family: From a central role in differentiation, proliferation, and apoptosis in mammals to a multifunctional role in plants. Genome 61, 857–865. https://doi.org/10.1139/gen-2018-0035
- Chambers, I., Smith, A., 2004. Self-renewal of teratocarcinoma and embryonic stem cells. Oncogene 23, 7150–7160. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1207930
- Cong, B., Liu, J., Tanksley, S.D., 2002. Natural alleles at a tomato fruit size quantitative trait locus differ by heterochronic regulatory mutations. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 99, 13606–13611. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.172520999
- Cong, B., Tanksley, S.D., 2006. FW2.2 and cell cycle control in developing tomato fruit: A possible example of gene co-option in the evolution of a novel organ. Plant Mol. Biol. 62, 867–880. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11103-006-9062-6
- Di Virgilio, F., Adinolfi, E., 2017. Extracellular purines, purinergic receptors and tumor growth. Oncogene 36, 293–303. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2016.206
- Di Virgilio, F., Ferrari, D., Adinolfi, E., 2009. P2X7: a growth-promoting receptor implications for cancer. Purinergic Signal. 5, 251–256. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11302-009-9145-3

- Favata, M.F., Horiuchi, K.Y., Manos, E.J., Daulerio, A.J., Stradley, D.A., Feeser, W.S., Van Dyk, D.E., Pitts, W.J., Earl, R.A., Hobbs, F., Copeland, R.A., Magolda, R.L., Scherle, P.A., Trzaskos, J.M., 1998. Identification of a novel inhibitor of mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 18623–32.
- Frary, Anne, Nesbitt, T.C., Frary, Amy, Grandillo, S., Van Der Knaap, E., Cong, B., Liu, J., Meller, J., Elber, R., Alpert, K.B., Tanksley, S.D., 2000. fw2.2: A quantitative trait locus key to the evolution of tomato fruit size. Science (80-.). 289, 85–88. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.289.5476.85

Grafi, G., Florentin, A., Ransbotyn, V., Morgenstern, Y., 2011. The stem cell state in plant

development and in response to stress. Front. Plant Sci. 2, 1–10.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2011.00053

- Gokhale, R. H. and Shingleton, A. W. (2015). Size control: the developmental physiology of body and organ size regulation. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Dev. Biol. 4,
- 335-356. doi:10.1002/wdev.181
- Guo, M., Rupe, M.A., Dieter, J.A., Zou, J., Spielbauer, D., Duncan, K.E., Howard, R.J., Hou,
 Z., Simmons, C.R., 2010. Cell Number Regulator1 affects plant and organ size in maize: implications for crop yield enhancement and heterosis. Plant Cell 22, 1057–73. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.109.073676

- Guo, M., Simmons, C.R., 2011. Cell number counts--the fw2.2 and CNR genes and implications for controlling plant fruit and organ size. Plant Sci. 181, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plantsci.2011.03.010
- Guo, T., Peters, A.H.F.M., Newmark, P.A., 2006. A bruno-like Gene Is Required for Stem Cell Maintenance in Planarians. Dev. Cell 11, 159–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2006.06.004
- Gurley, K.A., Elliott, S.A., Simakov, O., Schmidt, H.A., Holstein, T.W., Alvarado, A.S.,
 2010. Expression of secreted Wnt pathway components reveals unexpected complexity of the planarian amputation response. Dev. Biol. 347, 24–39.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2010.08.007
- Harada, H., Chan, C.M., Loesch, A., Unwin, R., Burnstock, G., 2000. Induction of proliferation and apoptotic cell death via P2Y and P2X receptors, respectively, in rat glomerular mesangial cells. Kidney Int. 57, 949–958. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1755.2000.00911.x
- Hasegawa, K., Namekawa, S.H., Saga, Y., 2013. MEK/ERK signaling directly and indirectly contributes to the cyclical self-renewal of spermatogonial stem cells. Stem Cells 31, 2517–27. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1486

- Hayashi, T., Asami, M., Higuchi, S., Shibata, N., Agata, K., 2006. Isolation of planarian Xray-sensitive stem cells by fluorescence-activated cell sorting. Dev. Growth Differ. 48, 371–80. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-169X.2006.00876.x
- Hayashi, T., Motoishi, M., Yazawa, S., Itomi, K., Tanegashima, C., Nishimura, O., Agata, K., Tarui, H., 2011. A LIM-homeobox gene is required for differentiation of Wntexpressing cells at the posterior end of the planarian body. Development 138, 3679–88. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.060194
- Hayashi, T., Shibata, N., Okumura, R., Kudome, T., Nishimura, O., Tarui, H., Agata, K., 2010. Single-cell gene profiling of planarian stem cells using fluorescent activated cell sorting and its "index sorting" function for stem cell research. Dev. Growth Differ. 52, 131–44. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-169X.2009.01157.x
- Huang, M.L., Qi, C.L., Zou, Y., Yang, R., Jiang, Y., Sheng, J.F., Kong, Y.G., Tao, Z.Z., Chen, S.M., 2020. Plac8-mediated autophagy regulates nasopharyngeal carcinoma cell function via AKT/mTOR pathway. J. Cell. Mol. Med. 24, 7778–7788. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcmm.15409
- Iglesias, M., Felix, D.A., Gutiérrez-Gutiérrez, Ó., De Miguel-Bonet, M. del M., Sahu, S., Fernández-Varas, B., Perona, R., Aboobaker, A.A., Flores, I., González-Estévez, C., 2019. Downregulation of mTOR Signaling Increases Stem Cell Population Telomere

Length during Starvation of Immortal Planarians. Stem Cell Reports 13, 405–418. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2019.06.005

- Inaba, M., Yamashita, Y.M., 2012. Asymmetric stem cell division: Precision for robustness. Cell Stem Cell 11, 461–469. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2012.09.003
- Jimenez-Preitner, M., Berney, X., Uldry, M., Vitali, A., Cinti, S., Ledford, J.G., Thorens, B., 2011. Plac8 is an inducer of C/EBPβ required for brown fat differentiation, thermoregulation, and control of body weight. Cell Metab. 14, 658–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2011.08.008
- Kato, K., Orii, H., Watanabe, K., Agata, K., 2001. Dorsal and ventral positional cues required for the onset of planarian regeneration may reside in differentiated cells. Dev. Biol. 233, 109–121. https://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.2001.0226
- Keller, G.M., 1995. In vitro differentiation of embryonic stem cells. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 7, 862–869. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0955-0674(95)80071-9
- Knoblich, J.A., 2008. Mechanisms of Asymmetric Stem Cell Division. Cell 132, 583–597. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2008.02.007
- Kunath, T., Saba-El-Leil, M.K., Almousailleakh, M., Wray, J., Meloche, S., Smith, A., 2007.
 FGF stimulation of the Erk1/2 signalling cascade triggers transition of pluripotent
 embryonic stem cells from self-renewal to lineage commitment. Development 134,
 2895–2902. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.02880

Lahiri, V., Hawkins, W.D., Klionsky, D.J., 2019. Watch What You (Self-) Eat: Autophagic Mechanisms that Modulate Metabolism. Cell Metab. 29, 803–826. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2019.03.003

- Lehmann, R., 2012. Germline stem cells: Origin and destiny. Cell Stem Cell 10, 729–739. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2012.05.016
- Lei, K., Thi-Kim Vu, H., Mohan, R.D., McKinney, S.A., Seidel, C.W., Alexander, R.,
 Gotting, K., Workman, J.L., Sánchez Alvarado, A., 2016. Egf Signaling Directs
 Neoblast Repopulation by Regulating Asymmetric Cell Division in Planarians. Dev.
 Cell 38, 413–429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2016.07.012
- Li, Y., Rogulski, K., Zhou, Q., Sims, P.J., Prochownik, E. V., 2006. The Negative c-Myc Target Onzin Affects Proliferation and Apoptosis via Its Obligate Interaction with Phospholipid Scramblase I. Mol. Cell. Biol. 26, 3401–3413.
 https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.26.9.3401-3413.2006
- Li, Z., He, C., 2015. Physalis floridana Cell Number Regulator1 encodes a cell membraneanchored modulator of cell cycle and negatively controls fruit size. J. Exp. Bot. 66, 257– 270. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/eru415
- Libault, M., Zhang, X.C., Govindarajulu, M., Qiu, J., Ong, Y.T., Brechenmacher, L., Berg, R.H., Hurley-Sommer, A., Taylor, C.G., Stacey, G., 2010. A member of the highly

conserved FWL (tomato FW2.2-like) gene family is essential for soybean nodule organogenesis. Plant J. 62, 852–864. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-313X.2010.04201.x

- Lin, H., 2008. Cell biology of stem cells: An enigma of asymmetry and self-renewal. J. Cell Biol. 180, 257–260. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200712159
- Liu, L., Michowski, W., Kolodziejczyk, A., Sicinski, P., 2019. The cell cycle in stem cell proliferation, pluripotency and differentiation. Nat. Cell Biol. 21, 1060–1067. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41556-019-0384-4
- Mao, M., Chen, Y., Jia, Y., Yang, J., Wei, Q., Li, Z., Chen, L., Chen, C., Wang, L., 2019.
 PLCA8 suppresses breast cancer apoptosis by activating the PI3k/AKT/NF-κB pathway.
 J. Cell. Mol. Med. 23, 6930–6941. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcmm.14578
- Miller, C.M., Newmark, P.A., 2012. An insulin-like peptide regulates size and adult stem cells in planarians. Int. J. Dev. Biol. 56, 75–82. https://doi.org/10.1387/ijdb.113443cm
- Morgan, T.H., 1898. Experimental studies of the regeneration of Planaria maculata. Roux's Arch. Dev. Biol. 7, 364–397. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02161491
- Morita, M., Best, J.B., Noel, J., 1969. Electron microscopic studies of planarian regeneration:
 I. Fine structure of neoblasts in *Dugesia dorotocephala*. J. Ultrastruct. Res. 27, 7–23.
 https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-5320(69)90017-3
- Neganova, I., Zhang, X., Atkinson, S., Lako, M., 2009. Expression and functional analysis of G1 to S regulatory components reveals an important role for CDK2 in cell cycle

regulation in human embryonic stem cells. Oncogene 28, 20-30.

https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2008.358

- Newmark, P.A., Sánchez Alvarado, A., 2000. Bromodeoxyuridine specifically labels the regenerative stem cells of planarians. Dev. Biol. 220, 142–53. https://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.2000.9645
- Nishimura, O., Hosoda, K., Kawaguchi, E., Yazawa, S., Hayashi, T., Inoue, T., Umesono, Y., Agata, K., 2015. Unusually large number of mutations in asexually reproducing clonal planarian *Dugesia japonica*. PLoS One 10, 1–23.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0143525

- Ohtani, M., Ohura, K., Oka, T., 2011. Cellular Physiology Biochemistry and Biochemistry Involvement of P2X Receptors in the Regulation of Insulin Secretion, Proliferation and Survival in Mouse Pancreatic E -Cells. Cell. Physiol. Biochem. 1195, 355–366.
- Orii, H., Ito, H., Watanabe, K., 2002. Anatomy of the planarian *Dugesia japonica* I. The muscular system revealed by antisera against myosin heavy chains. Zoolog. Sci. 19, 1123–1131. https://doi.org/10.2108/zsj.19.1123

Palakodeti, D., Smielewska, M., Lu, Y.C., Yeo, G.W., Graveley, B.R., 2008. The PIWI proteins SMEDWI-2 and SMEDWI-3 are required for stem cell function and piRNA expression in planarians. Rna 14, 1174–1186. https://doi.org/10.1261/rna.1085008

- Pang, Q., Gao, L., Bai, Y., Deng, H., Han, Y., Hu, W., Zhang, Y., Yuan, S., Sun, W., Lu, Y., Zhang, X., Liu, B., Zhao, B., 2017. Identification and characterization of a novel multifunctional placenta specific protein 8 in *Dugesia japonica*. Gene 613, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2017.02.024
- Pascual-Carreras, E., Marin-Barba, M., Herrera-Úbeda, C., Font-Martin, D., Eckelt, K., de Sousa, N., Garciá-Fernández, J., Saló, E., Adell, T., 2020. Planarian cell number depends on blitzschnell, a novel gene family that balances cell proliferation and cell death. Dev. 147, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.184044
- Pedersen, K.J., 1959. Cytological studies on the planarian neoblast. Zeitschrift für Zellforsch. und Mikroskopische Anat. 1959 506 50, 799–817. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00342367
- Piccin, D., Morshead, C.M., 2011. Wnt signaling regulates symmetry of division of neural stem cells in the adult brain and in response to injury. Stem Cells 29, 528–538. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.589
- Raz, A.A., Wurtzel, O., Reddien, P.W., 2021. Planarian stem cells specify fate yet retain potency during the cell cycle. Cell Stem Cell 28, 1307-1322.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2021.03.021
- Reddien, P.W., Oviedo, N.J., Jennings, J.R., Jenkin, J.C., Sánchez Alvarado, A., 2005.
 Developmental biology: SMEDWI-2 is a PIWI-like protein that regulates planarian stem cells. Science (80-.). 310, 1327–1330. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1116110

- Rolls, M.M., Albertson, R., Shih, H.P., Lee, C.Y., Doe, C.Q., 2003. *Drosophila* aPKC regulates cell polarity and cell proliferation in neuroblasts and epithelia. J. Cell Biol. 163, 1089–1098. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200306079
- Rossi, L., Salvetti, A., Lena, A., Batistoni, R., Deri, P., Pugliesi, C., Loreti, E., Gremigni, V., 2006. DjPiwi-1, a member of the PAZ-Piwi gene family, defines a subpopulation of planarian stem cells. Dev. Genes Evol. 216, 335–346. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00427-006-0060-0
- Rouhana, L., Weiss, J.A., Forsthoefel, D.J., Lee, H., King, R.S., Inoue, T., Shibata, N., Agata, K., Newmark, P.A., 2013. RNA interference by feeding in vitro-synthesized double-stranded RNA to planarians: methodology and dynamics. Dev. Dyn. 242, 718–30.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/dvdy.23950
- Sakurai, T., Lee, H., Kashima, M., Saito, Y., Hayashi, T., Kudome-Takamatsu, T., Nishimura, O., Agata, K., Shibata, N., 2012. The planarian P2X homolog in the regulation of asexual reproduction. Int. J. Dev. Biol. 56, 173–182.
- Saló, E., Baguñà, J., 1984. Regeneration and pattern formation in planarians. I. The pattern of mitosis in anterior and posterior regeneration in *Dugesia (G) tigrina*, and a new proposal for blastema formation. J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. 83, 63–80.
- Salvetti, A., Rossi, L., Lena, A., Batistoni, R., Deri, P., Rainaldi, G., Locci, M.T., Evangelista, M., Gremigni, V., 2005. DjPum, a homologue of *Drosophila Pumilio*, is

essential to planarian stem cell maintenance. Development 132, 1863–1874.

https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.01785

- Sato, K., Shibata, N., Orii, H., Amikura, R., Sakurai, T., Agata, K., Kobayashi, S., Watanabe, K., 2006. Identification and origin of the germline stem cells as revealed by the expression of nanos-related gene in planarians. Dev. Growth Differ. 48, 615–28. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-169X.2006.00897.x
- Sato, Y., Umesono, Y., Kuroki, Y., Agata, K., Hashimoto, C., 2021. Proliferation maintains the undifferentiated status of stem cells: the role of the planarian cell cycle regulator Cdh1. bioRxiv 2021.06.13.448266. https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.06.13.448266
- Seita, J., Weissman, I.L., 2010. Published in final edited form as: Hematopoietic Stem Cell: Self-renewal versus Differentiation. Wiley Interdiscip Rev.Syst. Biol.Med. 2, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1002/wsbm.86.Hematopoietic
- Shahriyari, L., Komarova, N.L., 2013. Symmetric vs. asymmetric stem cell divisions: an adaptation against cancer? PLoS One 8. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0076195
- Shibata, N., Hayashi, T., Fukumura, R., Fujii, J., Kudome-Takamatsu, T., Nishimura, O., Sano, S., Son, F., Suzuki, N., Araki, R., Abe, M., Agata, K., 2012. Comprehensive gene expression analyses in pluripotent stem cells of a planarian, *Dugesia japonica*. Int. J. Dev. Biol. 56, 93–102. https://doi.org/10.1387/ijdb.113434ns

- Shibata, N., Kashima, M., Ishiko, T., Nishimura, O., Rouhana, L., Misaki, K., Yonemura, S.,
 Saito, K., Siomi, H., Siomi, M.C., Agata, K., 2016. Inheritance of a Nuclear PIWI from
 Pluripotent Stem Cells by Somatic Descendants Ensures Differentiation by Silencing
 Transposons in Planarian. Dev. Cell 37, 226–237.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2016.04.009
- Shibata, N., Rouhana, L., Agata, K., 2010. Cellular and molecular dissection of pluripotent adult somatic stem cells in planarians. Dev. Growth Differ. 52, 27–41. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-169X.2009.01155.x
- Shibata, N., Umesono, Y., Orii, H., Sakurai, T., Watanabe, K., Agata, K., 1999. Expression of vasa(vas)-related genes in germline cells and totipotent somatic stem cells of planarians. Dev. Biol. 206, 73–87. https://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.1998.9130
- Smith, A.G., 2001. Embryo-Derived Stem Cells: Of Mice and Men. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 17, 435–462. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.cellbio.17.1.435
- Smith, K.P., Luong, M.X., Stein, G.S., 2009. Pluripotency: Toward a gold standard for human ES and iPS cells. J. Cell. Physiol. 220, 21–29. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.21681
- Solana, J., Lasko, P., Romero, R., 2009. Spoltud-1 is a chromatoid body component required for planarian long-term stem cell self-renewal. Dev. Biol. 328, 410–421.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2009.01.043

- Takahashi, K., Yamanaka, S., 2006. Induction of Pluripotent Stem Cells from Mouse Embryonic and Adult Fibroblast Cultures by Defined Factors. Cell 126, 663–676. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2006.07.024
- Takeda, H., Nishimura, K., Agata, K., 2009. Planarians maintain a constant ratio of different cell types during changes in body size by using the stem cell system. Zoolog. Sci. 26, 805–13. https://doi.org/10.2108/zsj.26.805
- Tasaki, J., Shibata, N., Nishimura, O., Itomi, K., Tabata, Y., Son, F., Suzuki, N., Araki, R., Abe, M., Agata, K., Umesono, Y., 2011a. ERK signaling controls blastema cell differentiation during planarian regeneration. Development 138, 2417–27. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.060764
- Tasaki, J., Shibata, N., Sakurai, T., Agata, K., Umesono, Y., 2011b. Role of c-Jun N-terminal kinase activation in blastema formation during planarian regeneration. Dev. Growth Differ. 53, 389–400. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-169X.2011.01254.x
- Umesono, Y., Agata, K., 2009. Evolution and regeneration of the planarian central nervous system. Dev. Growth Differ. 51, 185–95. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-169X.2009.01099.x
- Umesono, Y., Tasaki, J., Nishimura, Y., Hrouda, M., Kawaguchi, E., Yazawa, S., Nishimura, O., Hosoda, K., Inoue, T., Agata, K., 2013. The molecular logic for planarian

regeneration along the anterior-posterior axis. Nature 500, 73-6.

https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12359

- Van Wolfswinkel, J.C., Wagner, D.E., Reddien, P.W., 2014. Single-cell analysis reveals functionally distinct classes within the planarian stem cell compartment. Cell Stem Cell 15, 326–339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2014.06.007
- Wagner, D.E., Wang, I.E., Reddien, P.W., 2011. Clonogenic neoblasts are pluripotent adult stem cells that underlie planarian regeneration. Science (80-.). 332, 811–816. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1203983
- Wang, Y., Zayas, R.M., Guo, T., Newmark, P.A., 2007. Nanos Function Is Essential for Development and Regeneration of Planarian Germ Cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 104, 5901–5906. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0609708104
- Wenemoser, D., Lapan, S.W., Wilkinson, A.W., Bell, G.W., Reddien, P.W., 2012. A molecular wound response program associated with regeneration initiation in planarians. Genes Dev. 26, 988–1002. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.187377.112
- Wenemoser, D., Reddien, P.W., 2010. Planarian regeneration involves distinct stem cell responses to wounds and tissue absence. Dev. Biol. 344, 979–91.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2010.06.017

Wilson, A., Laurenti, E., Oser, G., van der Wath, R.C., Blanco-Bose, W., Jaworski, M., Offner, S., Dunant, C.F., Eshkind, L., Bockamp, E., Lió, P., Macdonald, H.R., Trumpp, A., 2008. Hematopoietic stem cells reversibly switch from dormancy to self-renewal during homeostasis and repair. Cell 135, 1118–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2008.10.048

Wolff, E., Dubois, F., 1948. Mise en évidence d'un système de corrélations intervenant dans la régénération des Planaires d'eau douce. Experientia 4, 273–274. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02164407

- Yazawa, S., Umesono, Y., Hayashi, T., Tarui, H., Agata, K., 2009. Planarian
 Hedgehog/Patched establishes anterior-posterior polarity by regulating Wnt signaling.
 Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106, 22329–34. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0907464106
- Ying, Q.-L., Nichols, J., Chambers, I., Smith, A., 2003. BMP Induction of Id Proteins
 Suppresses Differentiation and Sustains Embryonic Stem Cell Self-Renewal in
 Collaboration with STAT3. Cell 115, 281–292.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00847-X

Yoshida-Kashikawa, M., Shibata, N., Takechi, K., Agata, K., 2007. DjCBC-1, a conserved DEAD box RNA helicase of the RCK/p54/Me31B family, is a component of RNAprotein complexes in planarian stem cells and neurons. Dev. Dyn. 236, 3436–3450. https://doi.org/10.1002/dvdy.21375

- Zakrzewski, W., Dobrzyński, M., Szymonowicz, M., Rybak, Z., 2019. Stem cells: past, present, and future. Stem Cell Res. Ther. 10, 68. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1165-5
- Zeng, A., Li, H., Guo, L., Gao, X., McKinney, S., Wang, Y., Yu, Z., Park, J., Semerad, C., Ross, E., Cheng, L.C., Davies, E., Lei, K., Wang, W., Perera, A., Hall, K., Peak, A., Box, A., Sánchez Alvarado, A., 2018. Prospectively Isolated Tetraspanin + Neoblasts Are Adult Pluripotent Stem Cells Underlying Planaria Regeneration. Cell 173, 1593-1608.e20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2018.05.006
- Zeng, X., Liu, Q., Yang, Y., Jia, W., Li, S., He, D., Ma, R., 2019. Placenta-specific protein 8 promotes the proliferation of lung adenocarcinoma PC-9 cells and their tolerance to an epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor by activating the ERK signaling pathway. Oncol. Lett. 18, 5621–5627. https://doi.org/10.3892/ol.2019.10911